

18 בפברואר, 2016

גילת רשתות לווין בע"מ ("החברה") דוח הצעת מדף

על פי תשקיף מדף של החברה מיום 18 בפברואר, 2016 (לפרטים נוספים ראו דיווח מיידי מיום 18/02/2016, אסמכתא: 2016-02-030643, להלן: "תשקיף המדף"), ובהתאם להוראות תקנות ניירות ערך (הצעת מדף של ניירות ערך), התשס"ו-2005, החברה מתכבדת לפרסם בזאת דוח הצעת מדף מכוח תשקיף המדף להנפקה ולרישום למסחר בבורסה לניירות ערך בתל-אביב בע"מ (להלן: "הבורסה") של ניירות הערך המפורטים בדוח זה להלן (להלן: "דוח הצעת המדף" או "דוח ההצעה").

בד בבד עם הצעת ניירות הערך בישראל על פי דוח הצעת מדף זה מציעה החברה לבעלי מניותיה בארה"ב באמצעות תשקיף מדף ודו"ח הצעת מדף בהתאם לדיני ניירות ערך של ארה"ב ובהתאם לאישור רשות ניירות ערך של ארה"ב (SEC) (מס' SEC) (מס' 333-195680) (להלן: "תשקיף המדף האמריקאי" ו- דו"ח הצעת המדף האמריקאי", בהתאמה; להלן ביחד: "התשקיף האמריקאי") את ניירות הערך המפורטים בסעיף 1 להלן, כאשר ההצעה על פי דוח הצעת מדף זה וההצעה על פי התשקיף האמריקאי הינה הצעה אחת של זכויות. דו"ח הצעת המדף האמריקאי מצורף בזאת כנספח ב' לדוח זה.

המסלקה לא תחזיק בחשבון המסלקה ב- DTC את הזכויות ולא תיתן ל- DTC שירותי סליקה בגין ניירות ערד אלו.

בדוח הצעת המדף דנן לא נקבע סכום גיוס מינימלי.

בדוח הצעת מדף זה תיוחס למונחים המובאים בו המשמעות שניתנה להם בתשקיף המדף, אלא אם כן צוין אחרת.

1. ניירות הערך המוצעים

בין 9,860,144 לבין 9,983,444 מניות רגילות, רשומות על שם, בנות 0.20 ש״ח ע.נ. כל אחת של החברה (להלן: ״מניות רגילות״), המוצעות בדרך של הצעת זכויות (״ניירות ערך המוצעים״ או ״המניות הרגילות המוצעות עות המינה שוות בזכויותיהן למניות הרגילות הקיימות בהונה של החברה. לפרטים בדבר עיקרי הזכויות הנלוות למניות הרגילות של החברה, ראו את התשקיף האמריקאי תחת תיאור המניות (Description of Ordinary Shares) והעתק מתקנון ההתאגדות המעודכן כאמור צורף לדוח מיידי של החברה מיום 17/11/2011 (אסמכתא: 2011-02-330783).

ד המתה ועל מנמנוע ועל מלנא נישו הניתנים ע

בהנחה של מימוש של מלוא ניייע הניתנים למימוש לפני המועד הקובע (כהגדרתו להלן): (א) 546,748 אופציות (לא סחירות), הניתנות למימוש ל- 546,748 מניות רגילות של החברה מתוך סך של 1,433,500 אופציות (לא סחירות) שהוקצו נכון למועד דוח זה, לאופציות הנייל אין התאמה לזכויות; ו- (ב) 8,100 יחידות RSUs הניתנות למימוש ל- 850 מניות רגילות של החברה מתוך סך נחודות הנייל אין התאמה לזכויות.

- 1.2 ניירות הערך מוצעים בדרך של זכויות לבעלי המניות הרגילות של החברה בישראל ובהתאם לתקנות ניירות ערך (אופן הצעת ניירות ערך לציבור), התשס"ז-2007 (להלן: "תקנות אופן ההצעה").
 - 1.3 זהו דוח הצעת המדף הראשון מאז פרסום תשקיף המדף.
- 1.4 נכון למועד דוח הצעת מדף זה, ההון הרשום של החברה עומד על 90,000,000 מניות רגילות של החברה בנות 0.20 ש״ח ע.נ. כל אחת, וההון המונפק והנפרע של החברה (ללא דילול) כולל 44,370,647 מניות רגילות ובדילול מלא 2 הוא 46,030,347 מניות רגילות.
- 1.5 לאחר ההנפקה על פי דוח הצעה זה והתשקיף האמריקאי, ובהנחה של ניצול מלוא הזכויות יעמוד החון המונפק והנפרע של החברה על 54,908,939 מניות רגילות ו- 56,013,791 מניות רגילות בדילול מלא. בהנחה של ניצול מלוא הזכויות המוצעות על פי דוח הצעה זה והתשקיף האמריקאי תהווינה כ- האמריקאי, שיעור המניות הרגילות המוצעות בדוח הצעה זה ובתשקיף האמריקאי תהווינה כ- 18.2% מהון המניות המונפק והנפרע וכ- 17.8% בדילול מלא.

2. אופן הצעת ניירות הערך המוצעים

2.1 בין 9,860,144 לבין 9,983,444 מניות רגילות בנות 0.20 ש״ח ע.נ של החברה, מוצעות במסגרת הצעת דוח מדף זה והתשקיף האמריקאי לבעלי ניירות הערך המזכים (כהגדרתם להלן) בין 4,930,072 לבין 4,991,722 יחידות (להלן: ״היחידות״) בדרך של זכויות, באופן שבגין כל תשע (9) מניות רגילות יהיה זכאי המחזיק לרכוש יחידת זכות אחת, שהרכבה ומחירה כדלקמן:

הרכב היחידה	המחיר ארה"ב)	ליחידה	(בדולר
2 מניות רגילות, במחיר של 3.58 דולר ארהייב למניה.	7.16 דולו	־ ארהייב	
סה"כ מחיר ליחידת זכות	7.16 דולו	ארה"ב	

סך הכל, במסגרת הצעת דוח מדף זה והתשקיף האמריקאי, מוצעות בין 4,930,072 לבין 4,991,722 להידות זכות.

החברה תפרסם בדוח מיידי שלושה ימי מסחר לפני היום הקובע כל שינוי בכמות יחידות הזכות הסופית אם הכמות תעלה על 4,930,072 יחידות זכות.

² בהנחה של מימוש של מלוא ני"ע למניות רגילות של החברה, קרי 1,659,700 אופציות (לא סחירות) ויחידות RSUs לפי הפירוט של מימוש של מלוא ני"ע למניות רגילות של החברה, קרי 1,433,500 אופציות (לא סחירות) שהוקצו נכון למועד דוח זה, הניתנות למימוש ל- 226,200 מניות רגילות של החברה; מבלי החברה; ו- (ב) 226,200 יחידות RSUs, שהוקצו נכון למועד דוח זה, הניתנות למימוש ל- 679,888 להתייחס ל 679,888 אופציות (לא סחירות) או יחידות RSUs, אשר טרם הוקצו נכון למועד דוח זה, הניתנות למימוש ל- 679,888 מניות רגילות של החברה.

...

[.] ראו הערת שוליים 1 לעיל.

- 2.2 בהתחשב בשער הנעילה של מניה רגילה של החברה בבורסה ביום 17 בפברואר, 2016 קרי 1,482 אגי, ובמחיר יחידת הזכות המוצעת והרכבה, מחיר הייאקס זכויותיי למניה הוא כ- 1,467 אגי. מרכיב ההטבה בהצעת הזכויות על פי דוח הצעת המדף, הינו 4.67% ליחידת זכות.
 - .2.3 הצעת ניירות ערך במסגרת הצעת דוח מדף זה אינה מובטחת בחיתום.

3. תיאור ההצעה בדרך של זכויות

<u>: הגדרות</u> 3.1

ייהיום הקובעיי

יום 29 בפברואר, 2016 בחצות; בחצות 2016 יום 29 בפברואר, 2016 בחצות; (שהוא היום הקובע את הזכות להשתתף בהנפקת הזכויות). היה ופורסם לאחר היום הקובע תיקון לדוח ההצעה או דוח הצעת מדף מתוקן, ללא שינוי מבנה ההנפקה, לא ישתנה היום הקובע כפי שנקבע בדוח הצעת המדף המקורי, אלא אם נקבע אחרת בתיקון.

ייניירות הערך המזכיםיי המניות הרגילות הקיימות בהון המניות המונפק והנפרע של החברה (כמפורט בדו״ח זה, הזכאים להשתתף בהצעת הזכויות ביום הקובע, ככל שיהיו בהון החברה ביום הקובע).

"החברה לרישומים" החברה לרישומים של בנק דיסקונט לישראל בע"מ.

״המורשים לקבלת בקשות/ הבנקים וחברי הבורסה האחרים. הודעות״

ייזכאים רשומים" בעלי ניירות הערך המזכים הרשומים ביום הקובע בפנקס בעלי ניירות הערך המזכים הרלוונטי של החברה כבעלים של ניירות הערך המזכים, לפי הענין, למעט החברה לרישומים.

ייזכאים בלתי רשומים" בעלי ניירות הערך המזכים המחזיקים ביום הקובע בניירות הערך המזכים במסטות בעלי ניירות הערך המזכים באמצעות חבר בורסה בחשבון המסלקה ב-מזכים באמצעות חבר בורסה בחשבון המסלקה ב-מזכים באמצעות ("DTC").

ייזכאים בחוייל. למען הסר ספר זכאים בלתי רשומים וזכאים בחוייל. למען הסר ספר יובהר כי התשקיף האמריקאי יחול על הזכאים בחוייל.

״המועד האחרון למסירת ע"י עד ליום 21 במרץ, 2016 בשעה 12:00 בצהריים. הודעות לניצול הזכויות ע"י זכאים רשומים

. לפרטים נוספים ראו סעיף 4

"המועד האחרון למסירת עד ליום 21 במרץ, 2016 בשעה שתיקבע ביחס לכל זכאי בלתי רשום על ידי חבר הבורסה שבאמצעותו הוא מחזיק בניירות הערך המזכים. זכאים בלתי רשומים

ייהיום האחרון לניצול יום 23 במרץ, 2016. הזכויותיי

"דמי ניצול הזכויות" 7.16 דולר ארה״ב (המשקף מחיר של 3.58 דולר ארה״ב למניה), שהינו המחיר לניצול יחידת זכות אחת, כאשר התשלום יבוצע בש״ח בהתאם לשער הדולר הידוע (כהגדרתו להלן) במועד התשלום בפועל.

יייום תשלום דמי ניצול הוא עד ליום 3 באפריל, 2016. שהינו היום האחרון לתשלום דמי ניצול הזכויות.

ייום מסחריי ייום בו מתקיים מסחר בבורסה לניירות ערך בתל-אביב בעיימ.

יי**יום עסקים**יי כל יום אשר בו פתוחים מרבית הבנקים בישראל לביצוע עסקאות.

"שער הדולר הידועיי השער היציג האחרון של דולר ארהייב שקבע בנק ישראל. אולם, בתקופה שבה אין בנק ישראל נוהג לקבוע שער יציג יהיה השער הידוע השער שקבע לאחרונה שר האוצר ביחד עם נגיד בנק ישראל עבור תעודות התחייבות ממשלתיות הצמודות לשער דולר ארהייב.

2.2 ניצול הזכויות:

- 3.2.1 לא יתקיים מסחר בזכויות.
- חברי הבורסה ישלחו הודעה לזכאים הבלתי רשומים, המחזיקים ביום הקובע בניירות ערך המזכים באמצעותם. בהודעה יפרט כל חבר בורסה את דרכי הפעולה האפשריות של הזכאים הבלתי רשומים בגין הזכויות הרשומות לזכותו, כדלקמן: (א) לנצל את הזכויות הבסיסיות, כולן או חלקן; (ב) לבצע ניצול יתר של זכויות (כהגדרתו להלן); (ג) לא לנצל את הזכויות. חברי הבורסה והמסלקה נדרשים לוודא שזכאים שבחרו לבצע ניצול יתר של זכויות יכלו לעשות כן רק אם ניצלו את כל זכותם הבסיסית. כל אחד מחברי הבורסה יציין בהודעתו כי אם לא תתקבל הוראה כלשהי כאמור מזכאי בלתי רשום כלשהו באמצעותו, עד למועד האחרון למסירת הודעות לניצול הזכויות עייי זכאים בלתי רשומים, בשעה שתיקבע בהודעתו, אותו חבר הבורסה לא ינצל כלל את זכותו של הזכאי הבלתי רשום. לפרטים נוספים ראו עמ׳ S-42 לדוח הצעת המדף האמריקאי בדבר-Allocation and Exercise of Over-Subscription Rights
- בעלי המניות הזכאים אשר בחרו לנצל את מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות אותן הן זכאים 3.2.3 לממש במסגרת הנפקת הזכויות (להלן: "ניצול מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות"), רשאים

במסגרת ההודעה על ניצול מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות להודיע על רצונם לבצע ניצול יתר של זכויות (להלן: "הזכאים המשתתפים"). "ניצול יתר של זכויות (להלן: "הזכאים המשתתפים"). "ניצול יתר של זכויות ניצול הזכויות של יתר יחידות נוספות לרכישת מניות רגילות, אשר לא נרכשו במסגרת ניצול הזכויות של יתר בעלי המניות הזכאים (להלן: "היחידות הנותרות"). יובהר כי במידה וכל בעלי המניות הזכאים יבצעו ניצול של מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות בהנפקת הזכויות לא יוותרו יחידות לניצול יתר של זכויות.

- בעת ניצול יתר של זכויות, החברה תקצה את היחידות הנותרות, אשר לא נרכשו במסגרת ניצול מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות של הזכאים המשתתפים, באופן יחסי בין כל הזכאים המשתתפים אשר הודיעו, כאמור לעיל, על בקשתם לניצול יתר של זכויות. חישוב הקצאת היחידות הנותרות לזכאים המשתתפים תיעשה באופן יחסי על ידי חישוב ביחס לכל זכאי משתתף של מספר היחידות שנוצלו על ידו במסגרת ניצול מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות שנוצלו על ידי כל יתר הזכאים המשתתפים.
- 3.2.5 בהתאם ליחס זה, החברה תקצה לכל זכאי משתתף כאמור את כמות יחידות לפי חלקו היחסי ביחידות הנותרות אשר נותרו במסגרת ניצול היתר של הזכויות.
- 3.2.6 מימוש של ניצול יתר של זכויות על ידי הזכאי המשתתף עשוי להיות מוגבל, במידה וכמות היחידות הנותרות אשר נותרה לביצוע ניצול יתר של זכויות איננה מספיקה לשם עמידה בכל הודעות ניצול היתר של זכויות הזכאים המשתתפים אשר הודיעו על ניצול יתר של זכויות. במקרה זה, במסגרת ניצול היתר של הזכויות, לחלק מהזכאים המשתתפים תוקצה כמות יחידות נמוכה מכמות היחידות אשר עליהם הם הודיעו על רצונם לביצוע ניצול יתר של זכותם.
- יובהר, כי בכל מקרה, החברה לא תקצה לזכאי משתתף כמות גדולה יותר של יחידות מזו שהוא ביקש לנצל במסגרת בקשתו לניצול יתר של זכויות גם אם החישוב היחסי כאמור יוביל לכך שעל פי החישוב הוא זכאי להקצאת כמות יחידות גבוהה מכמות היחידות אליה הוא נרשם במסגרת בקשתו לניצול יתר של זכויות. כאמור, החברה תקצה לו, לכל היותר, את כמות היחידות אותה ביקש לרכוש בבקשתו.
- 2.2.8 באם נשאר עודף של יתרת יחידות, החברה תקצה את היתרה על פי היחס האמור לעיל, בין כל הזכאים המשתתפים אשר זכאותם לניצול יתר של זכויות טרם מומשה במלואה.
- תהליך הקצאה זה יחזור על עצמו עד שיוקצו כל היחידות הנותרות אשר זכאים ביקשו 3.2.9 לממש.
- 3.2.10 שברי יחידות אשר ייוצרו לאור מימוש זכות ניצול יתר של זכויות יבוטלו על ידי עיגול למטה לכמות היחידות השלמה הקרובה ביותר.
- 3.2.11 התשלום עבור ניצול יתר של זכויות על ידי זכאים משתתפים יבוצע באותו המועד של תשלום ניצול מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות. החברה תחזיר כל תשלום שנעשה ביתר, ללא כל ריבית או ניכוי, לאותם הזכאים המשתתפים אשר בקשתם לא נענתה במלואה וששילמו

- על יחידות נותרות שלא הוקצו להם על פי החלוקה בהתאם לחישוב היחסי וזאת, בהקדם ולאחר פקיעת הנפקת הזכויות.
 - . ניצול שוטף: לא ניתן לבצע ניצול שוטף של הזכויות. <u>ניצול שוטף</u>: לא
- 3.2.13 המסחר בבורסה "אקס זכויות": המניות הקיימות בהון החברה ייסחרו בבורסה "אקס זכויות" החל מהיום הקובע, דהיינו החל מיום 29 בפברואר, 2016 בחצות. היה והיום הקובע אינו יום מסחר, המניות הקיימות ייסחרו בבורסה "אקס זכויות" ביום המסחר הראשון שלאחריו.
- 3.2.14 סגירת מרשמי ניירות הערך של החברה: מרשם בעלי ניירות הערך של החברה לא יהיה סגור מתאריך פרסום דוח ההצעה ועד (וכולל) לתום יום המסחר "אקס זכויות".
- 3.2.15 זכויות שלא נוצלו: זכויות שלא נוצלו עד היום האחרון לניצול הזכויות, תפקענה ולא תקנינה כל זכות למחזיקים בהן ולא יוקצו ניירות ערך בגינן. מובהר, כי למנצלי הזכויות לא עומדות זכות קיזוז כנגד החברה בגין הסכום שעליהם לשלם.
- 3.2.16 חשבון מיוחד לזכויות: לא יאוחר מהיום הקובע תפתח החברה לרישומים בתאגיד בנקאי חשבון נאמנות מיוחד נושא פירות על שם החברה (להלן: "החשבון המיוחד לזכויות ינוהל באופן בלעדי על-ידי החברה לרישומים עבור לזכויות ינוהל באופן בלעדי על-ידי החברה לרישומים עבור ובשם החברה, בהתאם לחוק ניירות ערך. החברה לרישומים תעביר לחשבון המיוחד לזכויות את כל הכספים שיתקבלו על-ידה (לרבות הפירות שיתקבלו בגינם).
- 3.2.17 תעודות: לא יאוחר מיום מסחר אחד לאחר יום תשלום דמי ניצול הזכויות ובכפוף לקבלת התשלום המלא בגינן אצל החברה, תשלח החברה תעודות מניה לחברה לרישומים (לטובת הזכאים הבלתי רשומים), אשר ניצלו את זכויותיהם בהתאם לדוח ההצעה, בגין ניירות הערך הכלולים ביחידות שהזכויות לרכישתם נוצלו על ידם.
- 3.2.18 בכפוף לאמור בתשקיף המדף, תעודות המניה, יהיו ניתנות להעברה, לפיצול ולוויתור לטובת אחרים על ידי הגשת הודעה על כך לחברה בנוסח המקובל למטרה זו ובכפוף לתשלום כל ההוצאות הכרוכות בפעולות כאמור, לרבות המסים וההיטלים הכרוכים בכך, על-ידי המבקש.
- 3.2.19 בהתאם לאמור בתקנון הבורסה, המניות הרגילות המוצעות על פי דוח הצעת מדף זה תירשמנה במרשם בעלי המניות של החברה על שם החברה לרישומים. האמור לעיל לא יחול על מניות שהונפקו בדרך של הצעת זכויות לזכאים בחו״ל.
- ביטול ההנפקה: באפשרות החברה לבטל את הנפקת הזכויות בכל עת ומכל סיבה עד ליום 21 במרץ, 2016. ככל שתבוטל ההנפקה כאמור תפרסם החברה דיווח מיידי בנוגע לכך ותשיב את הכספים אשר התקבלו מבעלי ניירות הערך המזכים. אם החברה ביטלה את הנפקת הזכויות לאחר היום הקובע לא יהיה בכך כדי למנוע מהמניות הקיימות בהון החברה להיסחר אקס זכויות אחרי היום הקובע. לפרטים נוספים ראו עמי S-7 לדוח הצעת המדף האמריקאי.

- 3.2.21 <u>ניצול זכויות על ידי זכאים בחו״</u>ל: לעניין ניצול הזכויות על ידי זכאים בחו״ל אנא עיינו עמ׳ S-41 בדוח הצעת המדף האמריקאי.
- 2.3 <u>ניצול זכויות על ידי בעלי עניין</u> ונושאי משרה בחברה: לפרטים בדבר ניצול זכויות על ידי בעלי עניין ונושאי משרה בחברה ראו עמי 3-3 לדוח הצעת המדף האמריקאי.

4. היבטי המיסוי

לפירוט נוסף בדבר השלכות מיסוי ראו עמי S-49 לדוח הצעת המדף האמריקאי, הוראות אלו עשויות להשתנות עד למועד הצעתם בפועל של ניירות הערך המוצעים על פי הצעת המדף. בנוסף, לאור שינויים שחלים בהוראות המיסוי, ולאור ההיבט הפרסונאלי הכרוך בהשלכות המיסוי, מומלץ כי כל זכאי יבדוק את השלכות המיסוי החלות עליו בשים לב לנסיבותיו הייחודיות.

5. ניצול זכויות על ידי בעלי עניין ונושאי משרה בחברה

- 5.1 שותפויות פימי⁵, בעלות השליטה בחברה, המחזיקה בסמוך למועד פרסום דוח הצעה זה ב-14,942,672 מניות רגילות, הודיעה לחברה על כוונה לנצל את מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות המוצעות לה במסגרת דוח הצעת מדף זה, 1,660,297 יחידות זכות, המקנות זכויות לרכישתן של 11,888 מניות, וזאת בסכום כולל של כ- 11,888 אלפי דולר ארה"ב. כמו כן הודיעה בעלת השליטה כי היא עשויה לבחור לבצע ניצול יתר של זכויות כול עוד שיעור החזקותיה לא יעלה מעל ארבעים וחמישה אחוזים מזכויות ההצבעה בחברה.
- 5.2 מר דב בהרב, יו״ר דירקטוריון החברה ומנכ״ל זמני, המחזיק בסמוך למועד פרסום דוח הצעה זה ב-189,189 מניות רגילות, הודיע לחברה על כוונתו לנצל את מלוא הזכויות הבסיסיות המוצעות לו במסגרת דוח הצעת מדף זה, 94,354 יחידות זכות, המקנות זכויות לרכישתן של 188,708 מניות, וזאת בסכום כולל של כ- 676 אלפי דולר ארה״ב. כמו כן הודיע מר דב בהרב כי הוא עשוי לבחור לבצע ניצול יתר של זכויות.
- 5.3 בסך הכל הודיעו בעלי העניין הנייל על כוונה לנצל 1,754,651 יחידות זכות, המקנות זכויות לרכישתן של עד 3,509,302 מניות וזאת בסכום כולל של כ- 12,564 אלפי דולר ארהייב. מובהר כי המדובר בהודעה על כוונה ולא במחויבות משפטית לנצל זכויות אלו. דהיינו, ייתכן כי הכוונות האמורות לא יתממשו בפועל.

6. הימנעות מעשיית הסדרים

6. החברה והדירקטורים מתחייבים בחתימתם על דוח הצעה זה, להימנע מעשיית הסדרים שאינם כתובים בתשקיף המדף ובדוח הצעת המדף, בקשר עם הצעת ניירות הערך המוצעים על-פי דוח הצעת המדף, הפצתם ופיזורם בציבור, ומתחייבים להימנע מלהעניק זכות לרוכשי ניירות הערך המוצעים על-פי דוח הצעת המדף למכור את ניירות הערך שרכשו מעבר למפורט בתשקיף המדף ובדוח הצעת המדף.

[.] FIMI FIVE 2012 Ltd. - באמצעות השותפים הכללים הכללים - FIMI IV 2007 Ltd., באמצעות השותפים הכללים - 5

- 6.2 החברה והדירקטורים מתחייבים בחתימתם על דוח הצעה זה, להודיע לרשות ניירות ערך על כל הסדר הידוע להם עם צד ג' בקשר עם הצעת ניירות הערך המוצעים על-פי דוח הצעת המדף, הפצתם ופיזורם בציבור, הסותר את ההתחייבות כאמור בסעיף 5.1 לדוח הצעה זה.
- 6.3 החברה והדירקטורים מתחייבים בחתימתם על דוח הצעה זה, להימנע מלהתקשר עם צד גי כלשהו, בקשר עם הצעת ניירות הערך המוצעים על-פי דוח הצעת המדף, הפצתם ופיזורם בציבור, שלפי מיטב ידיעתם ערך הסדרים בניגוד לאמור בסעיף 5.1 לדוח הצעה זה.
- 6.4 התחייבות הדירקטורים כאמור תעמוד בתוקף כל עוד הדירקטורים ממשיכים לכהן בתפקידם כדירקטורים בחברה.

.7 היתרים ואישורים

- 7.1 החברה פנתה לבורסה בבקשה לרשום בה למסחר את המניות המוצעות על פי דוח הצעה זה, והבורסה נתנה את אישורה לכך. החברה תפנה לבורסה תוך 3 ימי מסחר לאחר יום תשלום דמי ניצול הזכויות או מכול ניצול שוטף של זכויות, ככול שיהיה, בבקשה לרשום את ניירות הערך המוצעים בדרך של זכויות.
- 7.2 אין לראות באישור האמור של הבורסה אישור לפרטים המובאים בדוח הצעת המדף, למהימנותם או לשלמותם ואין בו משום הבעת דעה כלשהי על החברה או על טיבם של ניירות הערך המוצעים בדוח או על המחיר בו הם מוצעים.

8. תשלום אגרה

בהתאם להוראות תקנה 4א לתקנות ניירות ערך (אגרת בקשה למתן היתר לפרסום תשקיף), התשנייה-1995, החברה תשלם לרשות ניירות ערך את תוספת האגרה בעד ניירות הערך המוצעים במסגרת דוח הצעת המדף.

9. תמורת ההנפקה

9.1 התמורה הצפויה לחברה מהנפקה זו על פי דוח ההצעה ועל פי התשקיף האמריקאי הינה בהתחשב במחיר ליחידה ובהנחה של 4,930,072 יחידות המוצעות בדוח זה ובתשקיף האמריקאי ינוצלו, תהיה כדלקמן:

בהנחה של ניצול 4,930,072 יחידות	
המוצעות	
35,299	התמורה המיידית הצפויה (ברוטו)
	אלפי דולר ארהייב
400	בניכוי הוצאות בסך של כ- 400 אלפי
	דולר ארהייב
34,899	התמורה הצפויה (נטו)

- 9.2 לא נקבע סכום מינימאלי להנפקה על פי דוח הצעה זה.
- ייעוד המדף "Use of Proceeds" S-30 ייעוד התמורה לפרטים בדבר יעוד התמורה לפרטים (בדבר יעוד התמורה לפרטים) אייעוד המחורה לפרטים בדבר יעוד התמורה האמריקאי.

10. שערי מניות החברה בבורסה

לפרטים בדבר שער מניות החברה ראו עמי S-32 לדוח הצעת המדף האמריקאי.

11. אירועים מהותיים החל מתקופת פרסום תשקיף המדף ועד למועד דוח ההצעה

בהתאם לתקנה 4 לתקנות ניירות ערך (הצעת מדף של ניירות ערך), התשס"ו-2005 (להלן: "**תקנות** התאם לתקנה 4 לתקנות ניירות ערך (הצעת מדף המדף נכללים בדוח הצעה זה על הצעת מדף"), כלל הדיווחים שהגישה החברה לאחר פרסום תשקיף המדף נכללים בדוח הצעה זה על Incorporation of Certain) לתשקיף המדף של החברה (Information by Reference).

ניתן לעיין בנוסח המלא של הדיווחים המיידיים באתר ההפצה של רשות ניירות ערך בכתובת: www.maya.tase.co.il. שאינטרנט של הבורסה בכתובת www.maya.tase.co.il.

S-9 לדוח הצעת המדף. RISK FACTORS לדוח הצעת המדף.

13. מכתב הסכמת רואי חשבון המבקרים של החברה

לחברה ניתן מכתב הסכמה של רואי החשבון המבקרים של החברה, שבו נכללת הסכמתם לכלול בדוח הצעה זה, על דרך של הפניה, את דוחות רואה החשבון המבקר, הנכללים בדוח הצעת מדף זה על דרך של הפניה. מכתב ההסכמה מצורף כנספח א׳ לדוח הצעת מדף זה.

פרק 2 - חוות דעת משפטית

נשיץ ברנרס אמיר NASCHITZ BRANDES AMIR

נשיץ, ברנדס, אמיר ושות', עורכי דין 6789717 בחוב תובל 5, תל-אביב 6789717 טל. 623-623-5000 משרד חיפה: שדרות פל-ים 16, חיפה 5509523 טל. 64-864-4433 טל. 64-864-4433 שעשע NRIAW.COM

18 בפברואר, 2016

לכבוד

גילת רשתות לווין בעיימ

שלום רב,

הנדון: גילת רשתות לווין בע"מ (״החברה״) דוח הצעת מדף של החברה מיום 18 בפברואר, 2016 (״דוח הצעת המדף״)

בהתייחס לתשקיף מדף של החברה מיום 18 בפברואר, 2016 (יי**תשקיף המדף**יי) ודוח הצעת המדף שבנדון, אשר מפורסם מכוחו, הננו לחוות דעתנו לבקשתכם כדלקמן:

- 1. הזכויות הנלוות לניירות הערך המוצעים על פי דוח הצעת המדף תוארו נכונה בתשקיף המדף ובדוח הצעת המדף.
- 2. לחברה הסמכות להנפיק את ניירות הערך המוצעים על פי דוח הצעת המדף, באופן המתואר בתשקיף המדף ובדוח הצעת המדף.
 - 3. הדירקטורים של החברה נתמנו כדין ושמותיהם נכללים בדוח הצעת מדף זה.אנו מסכימים, כי חוות דעתנו זו תיכלל בדוח הצעת המדף.

בכבוד רב,

שחר חננאל, עוייד נשיץ, ברנדס, אמיר ושותי

<u>חתימות</u>

<u>החברה</u>
 גילת רשתות לווין בעי <i>י</i> מ
<u>דירקטורים</u>
דב בהרב, יו״ר דירקטוריון החברה
עמירם בם
דפנה כהן
ישי דוידי
גלעד הלוי
דר׳ צבי ליבר
אמיר אופק
 קינן רפאלי

<u>נספח א'</u> מכתב הסכמה



→972-3-6232525 טל. +972-3-5622555 op9 ev.com **קוסט פורר גבאי את קסירר** רח' עמינדב 3, תל-אביב 6706703

2016 בפברואר 18

לכבוד : <u>הדירקטוריון של גילת רשתות לווין בעיימ</u>

א.ג.נ,

אנו מסכימים להכללה בדרך של הפניה בדוח הצעת המדף אותו תפרסם גילת רשתות לווין בע"מ (להלן - החברה) בחודש פברואר 2016 (להלן – דוח הצעת המדף), של חוות דעת רואי החשבון שנחתמה על ידינו בתאריך 1 באפריל 2015 המתייחסת לדוחות המאוחדים על המצב הכספי של החברה ושל חברות הבת שלה, ולדוחות אפקטיביות הבקרה על דוחותיה הכספיים של החברה, אשר הוגשו על ידי החברה ל- Commission ולרשות ניירות ערך בישראל במסגרת דוח 20-F לשנת 2014, וכן להכללת שמנו תחת הכותרת "Experts" בדוח הצעת המדף.

מכתב זה ניתן לפי בקשת החברה ומיועד אך ורק להיכלל בדוח הצעת המדף של החברה, אשר יוגש לרשות ניירות מכתב זה ניתן לפי בקשת החברה ומיועד אך ורק להיכלל בדוח הצעת המוץ שניירות הערך המוצעים במסגרת דוח ערך בישראל והמיועד להתפרסם בחודש פברואר 2016. בנוסף, מכיוון שניירות הערך המוצעים במסגרת דוח הצעת המדף לא נרשמו ולא ירשמו תחת ה־Securities Act of 1933, לא הגשנו את מכתב הסכמתנו זה תחת ה־Securities Act of.

קוסט פורר גבאי את קסירר רואי חשבון

נספח ב׳ דו״ח הצעת המדף האמריקאי

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

(to Prospectus dated May 9, 2014)



GILAT SATELLITE NETWORKS LTD.

Subscription Rights to Purchase Up to 9,860,144 Ordinary Shares

We are distributing at no charge to the holders of our ordinary shares at 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time) on February 29, 2016, which we refer to as the record date, subscription rights to purchase up to an aggregate of 9,860,144 of our ordinary shares. We will distribute to you one right for every nine ordinary shares that you own on the record date. Your rights will be rounded down to the nearest whole number and accordingly, no fractional rights will be issued in the rights offering. We understand that some members of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, which we refer to as the TASE, may record fractional securities for the accounts of their clients pursuant to their internal policies.

Each right entitles the holder to purchase, at the subscription price of \$7.16, two ordinary shares with the terms described below (reflecting a price of \$3.58 per share). The subscription price, the number of shares that must be owned to receive one right and the number of shares to be issued for each right exercised have been set by us.

Subscription rights holders who fully exercise their basic subscription rights will be entitled to subscribe for additional ordinary shares that remain unsubscribed as a result of any unexercised basic subscription rights, which we refer to as the over-subscription right. If an insufficient number of ordinary shares are available to satisfy fully the over-subscription requests, then the available ordinary shares will be distributed among subscription rights holders who exercised their over-subscription right, based on the procedures set forth herein.

Our controlling shareholders, certain limited partnerships managed by FIMI IV 2007 Ltd. and by FIMI FIVE 2012 Ltd., have informed us that they intend to exercise their subscription rights in full and may choose to exercise the over-subscription rights set forth herein, all to such extent that the FIMI partnerships' holdings do not equal or exceed 45% of our voting rights following the exercise of their subscription rights.

The rights will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time), on March 21, 2016, which we refer to as the expiration date. We may not extend the expiration date of the rights offering. If you hold your rights through an Israeli brokerage company that holds the rights through the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Clearing House Ltd., you must notify your Israeli brokerage company of your election to exercise your rights on or before March 21, 2016, at such time as determined by the applicable Israeli brokerage company. Any rights not exercised at or before that time will expire worthless without any payment to the holders of those unexercised rights.

The issuance of ordinary shares purchased in the rights offering will be made on or about March 27, 2016 but no later than April 3, 2016. American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC will mail certificates representing ordinary shares purchased in the rights offering to record holders registered in our shareholders register maintained by it promptly after such date. Beneficial owners of our ordinary shares whose shares are held by a nominee, such as a broker, dealer or bank, rather than in their own name, will have any ordinary shares acquired in the rights offering credited to the account of such nominee on or about March 27, 2016, but no later than April 3, 2016.

There is no minimum subscription amount required for consummation of the rights offering.

We may terminate or cancel the rights offering in our sole discretion at any time prior to March 21, 2016, for any reason. If the rights offering is terminated, then we will return your subscription price payment, but without any payment of interest.

You should carefully consider whether to exercise your subscription rights before the expiration date. All exercises of subscription rights are irrevocable. Our Board of Directors is making no recommendation regarding your exercise of the subscription rights.

Our ordinary shares are listed on NASDAQ under the symbol "GILT" and on the TASE. The last sale price of our ordinary shares on NASDAQ on February 17, 2016 was \$ 3.87 per share and the last sale price of our ordinary shares on the TASE on February 17, 2016 was NIS 14.82 per share. The ordinary shares issued in the rights offering will also be listed for trading on NASDAQ and on the TASE. In accordance with the rules of the TASE, the TASE will reduce the opening price of our ordinary shares at the opening of trading on the TASE Ex-day, which is the first day that our ordinary shares will be traded on the TASE without entitlement to receive the rights. If we cancel or terminate the rights offering, such adjustment made by the TASE will not be reversed. The subscription rights will not be tradable on any trading market.

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-7 of this prospectus supplement and under similar headings in the other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), the Israeli Securities Authority (the "ISA") nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus supplement is February 18, 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Prospectus Supplement	
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	
USE OF PROCEEDS	
CAPITALIZATION	33
DESCRIPTION OF ORDINARY SHARES	
BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF ORDINARY SHARESTHE RIGHTS OFFERING	
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	
MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS	49
CERTAIN ISRAELI TAX CONSIDERATIONS	
LEGAL MATTERS	
EXPERTS	
ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES	
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION; INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE	
Prospectus	
PROSPECTUS SUMMARY	2
RISK FACTORS	2
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	19
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES	19
CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS	20
MARKET FOR OUR ORDINARY SHARES	
USE OF PROCEEDS	22
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	22
DESCRIPTION OF ORDINARY SHARES	25
DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS	29
DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES	30
DESCRIPTION OF SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS	
DESCRIPTION OF UNITS	32
FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTROLS AND OTHER LIMITATIONS	32
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE	33
OFFERING EXPENSES	33
LEGAL MATTERS	33
EXPERTS	33
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	33
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE	34
ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES	34

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus are part of a registration statement on Form F-3 that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, utilizing a "shelf" registration process. This document is in two parts. The first part is this prospectus supplement, including the documents incorporated by reference, describes the specific terms of this offering. The second part, the accompanying prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference, provides more general information. Generally, when we refer to this prospectus supplement, we are referring to both parts of this document combined. We urge you to carefully read this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus, and the documents incorporated by reference herein and

therein, before exercising the subscription rights and purchasing any of the ordinary shares being offered pursuant to this prospectus supplement. This prospectus supplement adds and updates information contained in the accompanying prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference therein. To the extent that any statement we make in this prospectus supplement is inconsistent with statements made in the accompanying prospectus or any documents incorporated by reference therein that were filed before the date of this prospectus supplement, the statements made in this prospectus supplement will be deemed to modify or supersede those made in the accompanying prospectus and such documents incorporated by reference therein.

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus, or incorporated by reference herein. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. No dealer, salesperson or other person is authorized to give any information or to represent anything not contained in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus. You should not rely on any unauthorized information or representation. This prospectus supplement is an offer to sell only the securities offered hereby and only under circumstances and in jurisdictions where it is lawful to do so. You should assume that the information in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front of the applicable document and that any information we have incorporated by reference is accurate only as of the date of the document incorporated by reference, regardless of the date of delivery of this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus, or the date of any sale of a security.

This prospectus supplement contains summaries of certain provisions contained in some of the documents described herein, but reference is made to the actual documents for complete information. All of the summaries are qualified in their entirety by the actual documents. Copies of some of the documents referred to herein have been filed, will be filed or will be incorporated by reference as exhibits to the registration statement of which the accompanying prospectus is a part, and you may obtain copies of those documents as described below under the heading "Where You Can Find More Information; Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference."

In this prospectus supplement, "we", "us", "our", the "Company" and "Gilat" refer to Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd., an Israeli company, and its subsidiaries.

All references to "dollars" or "\$" in this prospectus supplement are to U.S. dollars, and all references to "NIS" are to New Israeli Shekels.

This prospectus summary, the accompanying prospectus and the registration statement on Form F-3 of which they form a part, have been prepared based on the requirements of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the requirements of the SEC for Registration Statements on Form F-3. Section 35-29 of the Israeli Securities Law, 5728-1968, authorizes the Israel Securities Authority, or the ISA, under certain circumstances, to grant an exemption to companies that are dually-listed on the TASE and certain foreign stock exchanges, including the NASDAQ Global Select Market, that offer their securities to the public in Israel, from any or all of the provisions relating to the information to be contained in a prospectus or to its structure and its form. We have received such an exemption in connection with this rights offering.

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT SUMMARY

This summary is not complete and does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in the ordinary shares offered by this prospectus supplement. You should read this summary together with the entire prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus, including our financial statements, the notes to those financial statements and the other documents that are incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement, before making an investment decision. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-7 of this prospectus supplement and under similar headings in the other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement for a discussion of the risks involved in investing in our ordinary shares.

Our Business

We are a leading global provider of end-to-end broadband satellite communication, or Satcom, network solutions and services. We design, manufacture and provide full network management and equipment for Satcom as well as professional services to satellite operators and service providers worldwide. The equipment consists of very small aperture terminals, or VSATs, solid-state power amplifiers, or SSPAs, block up converters, or BUCs, low-profile antennas and on-the-Move/on-the-Pause terminals. VSATs are earth-based terminals that transmit and receive broadband Internet, voice, data and video via satellite. VSAT networks have significant advantages over wireline and wireless networks, as VSATs can provide highly reliable, cost-effective, fast to deploy, end-to-end communications regardless of the number of sites or their geographic locations. In addition, we provide for the cellular market integrated small cell with our satellite backhaul.

In addition to developing Satcom equipment, we have proven experience in delivering complex projects and services worldwide. We offer complete turnkey integrated solutions including:

- Fully managed Satcom services
- Satellite capacity
- Remote network operation
- Call center support
- Hub and field operations
- Build Operate Transfer of Rural Communication Networks

We have a large installed base spanning 90 countries, having sold over 1.2 million terminals and currently have over 500 active networks.

We have 20 sales and support offices worldwide, four network operations centers, or NOCs, and five R&D centers. Our products are sold to communication service providers and operators which use VSATs to serve enterprise, government and residential users, to mobile network operators and to system integrators that use our technology. Our solutions and services are also sold to defense and homeland security organizations. In addition, we provide services directly to end-users in various market segments, including in certain countries in Latin America and also provide managed network services, such as in Australia, over a VSAT network owned by a third party.

Recent Developments

On February 17, 2016, we issued a press release with respect to our financial results for our fourth quarter and fiscal year ended on December 31, 2015. This press release was filed with the SEC in a Form 6-K and on the MAGNA system on on February 17, 2016. Our unaudited condensed financial statements included in the earnings press release have been incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement. Our independent registered public accounting firm did not audit, review or perform other procedures with respect to these financial statements.

Our independent registered public accounting firm has begun the process of auditing our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, but its audit is not yet complete. We currently expect that our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, when completed, will be consistent with

the unaudited condensed financial statements included in our earnings press release for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

Our Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Israel in August 1987. We are registered with the Israeli registrar of companies and our registration number is 52-003893-6. Our corporate name is Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd.

Our corporate headquarters, executive offices and main research and development and engineering facilities, as well as facilities for some manufacturing and product assembly are located at Gilat House, 21 Yegia Kapayim Street, Kiryat Arye, Petah Tikva 4913020, Israel. Our address in the U.S. is c/o Wavestream Corporation at 545 W. Terrace Dr, San Dimas, CA 91773. Our telephone number is (972) 3-925-2000. Our web-site address is www.gilat.com. The information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report.

The Rights Offering

Securities Offered

We are distributing at no charge to the holders of our ordinary shares at 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time) on February 29, 2016, which we refer to as the record date, subscription rights to purchase up to an aggregate of 9,860,144 of our ordinary shares. We will distribute one right for every nine ordinary shares that are held by the holder of record on the record date. Based on 44,370,647 shares outstanding on the date hereof, we will issue approximately 4,930,072 rights in the rights offering. However, if the holders of exercisable options and exercisable RSUs convert their securities prior to the record date, up to an additional 61,650 rights may be issued. The total subscription price for the subscription rights offered in the rights offering will be at maximum \$35.3 million, assuming full participation in the rights offering (and full exercise of the over-subscription right, to the extent applicable), of which no assurance can be given.

Subscription Right

Each right, which we refer to as the subscription right, entitles the holder to purchase, for the subscription price of \$7.16, two ordinary shares (reflecting a price of \$3.58 per share). Rights will be rounded down to the nearest whole number and accordingly, no fractional rights will be issued in the rights offering. With respect to ordinary shares registered on our shareholder register maintained by our U.S. transfer agent, including those held in the name of DTC (other than those held for the account of the TASE Clearinghouse), such rounding will be made with respect to each record and beneficial shareholder. With respect to ordinary shares held for the account of the TASE Clearinghouse, such rounding will be made with respect to each nominee rather than each beneficial shareholder. We understand that some TASE members may record fractional securities for the accounts of their clients pursuant to their internal policies. Rights may only be exercised for whole numbers of ordinary shares; no fractional ordinary shares will be issued in the rights offering.

Over-Subscription Right

If you elect to purchase all of the ordinary shares available to you pursuant to your basic subscription right, you may also elect to subscribe for additional ordinary shares that remain unsubscribed as a result of any other shareholders not exercising their basic subscription rights. In honoring over-subscription rights, we will allocate the available shares proportionately by calculating the number of rights a subscriber properly exercised using their basic subscription rights, relative to the number of rights properly exercised using to the basic subscription rights by all subscribers who have over-subscribed. We will allocate to you an equivalent proportion of the shares available for oversubscription. We will seek to honor your over-subscription in full, subject to the limitations set forth herein. The exercise of your over-subscription privilege may be limited, however, if there are insufficient shares available, so you may be allocated fewer shares than you subscribed for using your over-subscription privilege. If the proportionate allocation results in you being allocated a greater number of shares than you subscribed for, then we will allocate to you only that number of shares for which you subscribed. We will allocate the remaining shares, on the basis described above, among all holders exercising the oversubscription privilege whose over-subscription was not satisfied in the first allocation. This allocation process will be repeated until all over-subscriptions have been satisfied. Fractional shares resulting from the exercise of the oversubscription privilege will be eliminated by rounding down to the nearest whole share. Payments in respect of over-subscription rights are due at the time

payment is made for the basic subscription right. Any excess subscription price payments will be returned, without interest or deduction, promptly after the expiration of the rights offering.

TASE Ex-Rights Date

February 29, 2016

Record Date

5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time), on February 29, 2016.

Commencement Date of Subscription Period

March 1, 2016.

Expiration Date of Subscription Period 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time), on March 21, 2016, unless we decide to terminate the rights offering prior to March 21, 2016. We or the U.S. subscription agent must actually receive all required documents and payments before that time and date. If you are a beneficial owner of our ordinary shares and hold them through a broker, dealer, bank or other nominee (including a participant of DTC or a member of the TASE), you should contact your nominee to exercise your subscription rights sufficiently in advance of the expiration date in order to ensure timely delivery of a subscription rights certificate reflecting your exercise. Each TASE member will determine its own deadline. Any rights not exercised at or before such time will have no value and expire without any payment to the holders of those unexercised rights.

Subscription Intentions of our Controlling Shareholders and Our ': Chairman

The FIMI partnerships, our controlling shareholders, have informed us that they intend to exercise their subscription rights in full and may choose to exercise the over-subscription rights set forth herein, all to such extent that the FIMI partnerships' holdings do not equal or exceed 45% of our voting rights following the exercise of their subscription rights. As of the date of this prospectus supplement, the FIMI partnerships beneficially own 33.8% of our outstanding ordinary shares.

Mr. Dov Baharav, our Chairman, interim Chief Executive Officer and the holder of 849,182 Ordinary Shares, representing 1.9% of our outstanding ordinary shares, has informed us that he intends to exercise his subscription rights in full and may choose to exercise the over-subscription rights set forth herein.

Subscription Price

\$7.16 per right (reflecting a price of \$3.58 per share), payable in immediately available funds.

Use of Proceeds

The proceeds from the rights offering, less fees and expenses incurred in connection with the rights offering, will be used to provide additional funds for our operations and for general corporate purposes.

Taxation

For a discussion of material Israeli and U.S. federal income tax consequences of the receipt and exercise of the rights and the ownership and disposition of new ordinary shares, please refer to "Certain Israeli Tax Considerations" and "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations" in this prospectus supplement.

Transferability of Rights

The subscription rights are not transferable (except by operation of law), and will not be tradable on any trading market.

No Board Recommendation Our Board of Directors is not making any recommendation to you about whether you should exercise any rights. You are urged to consult your own financial advisors in order to make an independent investment decision about whether to exercise your rights. Please see "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-7 of this prospectus supplement and under similar headings in the other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement for a discussion of the risks involved in investing in our ordinary shares.

No Minimum Subscription Requirement

There is no minimum subscription requirement. We will consummate the rights offering regardless of the amount raised from the exercise of rights by the expiration date.

No Revocation

If you exercise your rights, you will not be permitted to revoke or change the exercise or request a refund of monies paid.

Termination, Cancellation and Amendment

We may terminate or cancel the offering in our sole discretion at any time prior to March 21, 2016, for any reason. If the offering is terminated, all rights will expire without value and we will promptly arrange for the refund, without interest or deduction, of all funds received from holders of subscription rights. Any termination or cancellation of the rights offering will be followed as promptly as practicable by an announcement and in no event later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time (4:00 p.m., Israel time), on the next business day following the termination or cancellation. If we cancel or terminate the rights offering, the adjustment made by the TASE to the opening price of our ordinary shares at the opening of trading on the TASE Ex-day (which is the first day that our ordinary shares will trade on the TASE without entitlement to receive the rights) will not be reversed.

We may not amend or modify the terms of the rights offering, nor can we extend the expiration date of the rights offering, unless we publish an amended prospectus supplement or a revised prospectus supplement (subject to any applicable law).

Procedure for Exercising Rights

If you are the record holder of our ordinary shares registered on our shareholder register maintained by American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, our U.S. transfer agent, not including those ordinary shares held in the name of DTC, to exercise your rights you must complete the subscription rights certificate and deliver it to the U.S. subscription agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, together with full payment for all the subscription rights you elect to exercise. The U.S. subscription agent must receive the proper forms and payments on or before the expiration date. You may deliver the documents and payments by mail or commercial courier. If regular mail is used for this purpose, we recommend using registered mail, properly insured, with return receipt requested.

If you are a beneficial owner of our ordinary shares and/or hold them through a broker, dealer, bank or other nominee (including a participant of DTC or a member of the TASE), you should instruct your broker, dealer, bank or other nominee in accordance with the procedures described in the section of this prospectus supplement entitled "Methods for Exercising Rights" and "Payment of Subscription Price". If you hold your rights through an Israeli brokerage company that holds the rights through the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Clearing House Ltd., you must notify your Israeli brokerage company of your election to exercise your rights on or before March 21, 2016, at such time as determined by the applicable Israeli brokerage company. The related payment will be collected from the clients of TASE members and will be transferred to us on April 3, 2016.

U.S. Subscription Agent

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC

Israeli Subscription Agent The Nominee Company of Discount Bank Ltd.

Information Agent D.F. King & Co. Inc.

Questions If you have any questions or need further information about the rights offering,

please call D.F. King & Co. Inc., toll free at: 877-283-0321, or, if you are located in Israel, you may also contact General Counsel at (972) 3-925-2000,

during their respective normal business hours.

Shares Outstanding on the Date of this Prospectus Supplement

44,370,647 Ordinary shares. This amount excludes 546,748 ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options and 8,100 ordinary shares issuable upon the vesting of outstanding restricted share units (RSUs).

Shares Outstanding after Completion of the Rights Offering Up to 54,230,791 of our ordinary shares will be outstanding, assuming exercise of all subscription rights issued in the rights offering. This amount excludes 546,748 ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options and 8,100 ordinary shares issuable upon the vesting of outstanding restricted share units (RSUs).

Issuance of our Ordinary Shares

The issuance of ordinary shares purchased in the rights offering will be made on or about March 27, 2016, but no later than April 3, 2016.

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC will mail certificates representing ordinary shares purchased to record holders registered on our shareholder register maintained by it promptly after such date. Beneficial owners of our ordinary shares whose shares are held by a nominee will have any ordinary shares acquired in the rights offering credited to the account of such nominee on or about March 27, 2016, but no later than April 3, 2016.

Risk Factors

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Shareholders considering making an investment in our securities should consider the risk factors described in the section of this prospectus supplement entitled "Risk Factors" and under similar headings in the other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement.

Fees and Expenses

We will bear the fees and expenses relating to the rights offering.

Trading

Our ordinary shares are listed on NASDAQ under the symbol "GILT" and on the TASE. The ordinary shares issued in the rights offering will also be listed for trading on NASDAQ and the TASE. The subscriptions rights will not be listed for trading on any stock exchange.

RISK FACTORS

This section describes some of the risks relating to the rights offering and an investment in our ordinary shares. You should read these risk factors in conjunction with the discussion of risk factors starting on page 2 of our annual report on Form 20-F and those identified in our future filings with the SEC, incorporated herein by reference. Additional risk factors not presently known to us or that we deem immaterial may also impair our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Our Business

We have incurred major losses in past years and may not operate profitably in the future.

We recently reported on an unaudited basis an operating loss of \$43.7 million and a net loss from continuing operations of \$52.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to an operating profit of \$5.0 million and a net loss from continuing operations of \$0.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2014. In the year ended December 31, 2013, we reported an operating loss of \$4.1 million and a net loss from continuing operations of \$9.6 million. Our operating loss in 2015 was mainly due to lower revenues and impairments of goodwill and long lived assets. We incurred major losses in prior years and as of December 31, 2015 have an accumulated deficit of \$704.4 million. We cannot assure you that we can operate profitably in the future. If we do not achieve profitable operations, our share price will decline and the viability of our company will be in question.

Our available cash balance may decrease in the future if we cannot generate cash from operations.

Our cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2015 were \$18.4 million compared to \$27.7 million as of December 31, 2014. Our negative cash flow from operating activities was approximately \$14.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to negative cash flow from operating activities of \$16.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2014. The decline in our cash flow from operating activities is mainly attributable to our investments in projects in Peru and Colombia. If we do not generate sufficient cash from operations in the future, including from our large-scale projects, our cash balance will decline and the unavailability of cash could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

The delivery of our large scale projects requires us to invest significant funds in order to obtain bank guarantees and may require us to incur significant expenses before we receive full payment from our customers. This applies to the FITEL Regional Projects awarded to our subsidiary, Gilat Networks Peru, or GNP, by the Peruvian government (through FITEL), which are expected to generate in the aggregate \$393 million in revenues over approximately 11 years. We have used the advance payment received from FITEL as well as bank loans and internal cash resources in order to finance the FITEL Regional Projects. We have used surety bonds and our internal resources in order to provide the required bank guarantees for the FITEL Regional Projects. If we fail to obtain the necessary funding or if we fail to obtain such funds on favorable terms, we will not be able to meet our commitments and our cash flow and operational results may be adversely affected.

If the commercial satellite communications markets fail to grow, our business could be materially harmed.

A number of the commercial markets for our products and services in the satellite communications area, including high throughput satellite and commercial on the move, have emerged in recent years. Because these markets are relatively new, it is difficult to predict the rate at which these markets will grow, if at all. If the markets for commercial satellite communications products fail to grow, our business could be materially harmed. Conversely, growth in these markets could result in satellite capacity limitations which in turn could materially harm our business and impair the value of our shares. Specifically, we derive most of our revenues from sales of satellite based communications networks and related equipment and provision of services related to these networks and products. A significant decline in this market or the replacement of VSAT and other satellite based technologies by an alternative technology could materially harm our business and impair the value of our shares.

Because we compete for large-scale contracts in competitive bidding processes, losing a small number of bids or a decrease in the revenues generated from our large scale projects could have a significant adverse impact on our operating results.

A significant portion of our revenues is derived from large-scale contracts that we are awarded from time to time in competitive bidding processes. These large-scale contracts sometimes involve the installation of thousands of VSATs or massive fiber-optic transport and access networks. The number of major bids for these large-scale contracts for satellite-based networks and massive telecommunications infrastructure projects in any given year is limited and the competition is intense. Losing or defaulting on a relatively small number of bids each year could have a significant adverse impact on our operating results.

In March and December 2015, the Peruvian government awarded GNP the Regional FITEL Projects for the construction of networks, operation of the networks for a defined period and their transfer to the government, which are expected to generate revenues of \$285 million and \$108 million, respectively, each to be recognized over a period of approximately 11 years. In accordance with the bid conditions, we have established a Peruvian subsidiary to enter into written agreements with the Peruvian government for the four regional projects that were awarded.

In December 2013, Gilat Colombia was awarded a project, which is expected to generate revenues of 189 Billion Colombian Peso (approximately \$58 million, based on the representative rate of exchange published as of January 31, 2016) over the project period, which is expected to end in the first quarter of 2018, as part of the Kioscos Digitales project initiated by the Colombian Ministry of Information Technologies and Communications. In December 2013, our subsidiary Gilat to Home Peru, or GTH won a \$30 million contract from FITEL for construction of a network, its operation over 10 years and other related services, which contract was expanded by \$6 million over approximately the same period. See Item 4.B. – "Information on the Company – Business Overview – Services Division – overview" of our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 incorporated herein by reference.

If we default on any such large scale contract or bid requirements or if such contract is terminated, completed or reduced for any other reason, this could have an adverse impact on our operating results.

Many of our large scale contracts are with governments or large governmental agencies in Latin America and other parts of the world, so that any volatility in the political or economic situation or any unexpected unilateral termination or suspension of payments could have a significant adverse impact on our business.

In recent years, a significant portion of our revenues has been derived from large scale contracts with foreign governments and agencies, either directly or through contractors and system integrators, including those in Peru, Colombia, and Australia. Agreements with the governments in these countries typically include unilateral early termination clauses and involve other risks such as the imposition of new government regulations and taxation that could pose additional financial burdens on us. Changes in the political or economic situation in these countries can result in the early termination of our business there. Any termination of our business in any of the aforementioned countries could have a significant adverse impact on our business.

In March and December 2015, the Peruvian government (through FITEL) awarded GNP the Regional FITEL Projects with expected revenues of \$285 million and \$108 million, respectively, each over approximately 11 years for the construction of networks, operation of the networks for a defined period and their transfer to the government. In December 2013, Gilat Colombia was awarded a project initiated by the Colombian Ministry of Information Technologies and Communications valued at 189 billion Colombian Pesos (approximately \$58 million, based on the representative rate of exchange published as of January 31, 2016) over the project period, which is expected to end in the first quarter of 2018. In December 2013, GTH Peru won a \$30 million contract from the Peruvian government (through FITEL) for construction of a network, its operation over 10 years and other related services, which was expanded by \$6 million over approximately the same period. See Item 4.B. – "Information on the Company – Business Overview – Services Division – overview" of our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 incorporated herein by reference.

Our failure to deliver upon our large-scale projects in an economical manner or a delay in collection of payments due to us in connection with any such large-scale project, could have a significant adverse impact on our operating results.

We have been awarded a number of large-scale projects by foreign governments. The Peruvian FITEL Regional Projects that we were awarded in March and December 2015 are expected to generate revenues of \$285

million and \$108 million, respectively, each over approximately 11 years, for the construction of networks to be operated by us for a defined period, and then transferred to the Peruvian government. While we have experience in the successful implementation of large-scale network infrastructure projects in rural areas, the FITEL Regional Projects are complex and require cooperation of certain third parties. Additionally, the delivery of our large scale projects requires us to invest significant funds in order to obtain bank guarantees and may require us to incur significant expenses before we receive full payment from our customers. A failure to deliver upon our projects in an economical manner within the project's budget could result in losses and significantly adversely impact our operating results. During the fourth quarter of 2015, we recorded impairment of long lived assets of \$ 10.1 million related to our Kioscos Digitales project initiated by the Colombian Ministry of Information Technologies and Communications due to expected future losses from this project. Further, a failure to meet the projects' schedule or fulfill our obligations in a timely manner could result in payment of fines and impact our ability to receive and recognize the expected revenues in part or in full in a timely manner, which could have a significant adverse impact on our operating results.

Actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions that we use to prepare our financial statements.

In order to prepare our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"), our management is required to make estimates and assumptions, as of the date of the financial statements, which affect the reported values of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Areas that require significant estimates by our management include contract costs and profits, application of percentage-of-completion accounting, provisions for uncollectible receivables and customer claims, impairment of long-term assets, goodwill impairment, valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with business combinations, accruals for estimated liabilities, including litigation and insurance reserves, and stock-based compensation. Our actual results could differ from, and could require adjustments to, those estimates.

In particular, we recognize revenues generated from the Regional Fitel Projects using the percentage-of-completion method. Under this method, estimated revenue is recognized by applying the percentage of completion of the contract for the period (based on the ratio of costs incurred to total estimated costs of the contract) to the total estimated revenue for the contract. As a result, revisions made to the estimates of revenues and profits are recorded in the period in which the conditions that require such revisions become known and can be estimated. Although we believe that our profit margins are fairly stated and that adequate provisions for losses for fixed-price contracts are recorded in the financial statements, as required under U.S. GAAP, we cannot assure you that our contract profit margins will not decrease or its loss provisions will not increase materially in the future.

We operate in the highly competitive network communications industry. We may be unsuccessful in competing effectively.

We operate in a highly competitive industry of network communications, both in the sales of our products and our services. As a result of the rapid technological changes that characterize our industry, we face intense worldwide competition to capitalize on new opportunities, to introduce new products and to obtain proprietary and standard technologies that are perceived by the market as being superior to those of our competitors. Some of our competitors have greater financial resources, providing them with greater research and development and marketing capabilities. Our competitors may also be more experienced in obtaining regulatory approvals for their products and services and in marketing them. Our relative position in the network communications industry may place us at a disadvantage in responding to our competitors' pricing strategies, technological advances and other initiatives. Our principal competitors in the supply of VSAT networks are Hughes Network Systems, LLC, or HNS, ViaSat Inc. or Viasat, iDirect Technologies, or iDirect, and Newtec Cy N.V. Most of our competitors have developed or adopted different technology standards for their VSAT products.

Our low-profile in-motion antennas target a market that has not yet matured and we compete with products from competitors such as General Dynamics, Cobham, Orbit Communication Systems, Qest Quantum Electronic Systems GmbH, L-3 Communications Holdings, Inc., or L-3, Tecom Industries, Inc., or Tecom, and Thinkom Solutions. The competitors of our Wavestream corporation subsidiary, or Wavestream, include Comtech Xicom Technology, Inc., CPI Satcom (which acquired Codan Satcom in 2012), General Dynamics SATCOM Technologies, and Paradise Datacom.

In addition, ViaSat and HNS have launched their own satellites, which enable them to offer vertically integrated solutions to their customers, which may further change the competitive environment in which we operate and could have an adverse effect on our business.

In Peru and Colombia, where we primarily operate public rural telecom services (voice, data and Internet) and recently undertook construction of fiber-optic transport and access networks based on wireless, we typically encounter competition on government subsidized bids from various service providers, system integrators and consortiums. Some of these competitors offer solutions based on VSAT technology and some on terrestrial technologies (typically, fiber and wireless technologies). In addition, as competing technologies such as cellular telephones and fiber optics in Peru and Colombia become available in rural areas where not previously available, our business could be adversely affected.

Our lengthy sales cycles could harm our results of operations if forecasted sales are delayed or do not occur.

The length of time between the date of initial contact with a potential customer or sponsor and the execution of a contract with the potential customer or sponsor may be lengthy and vary significantly depending on the nature of the arrangement. During any given sales cycle, we may expend substantial funds and management resources and not obtain significant revenue, resulting in a negative impact on our operating results. In some cases, we have seen longer sales cycles in all of the regions in which we do business. In addition, we have seen projects delayed or even canceled, which would also have an adverse impact on our sales cycles. In our mobility and defense businesses, our HTS projects and large-scale projects, in particular, sales cycles may be longer and it may be difficult to accurately forecast sales due to the uncertainty around these projects and their award and starting periods.

We may need to make acquisitions or form strategic alliances or partnerships in order to remain competitive in our market, and such acquisitions, strategic alliances or partnerships could be difficult to integrate, disrupt our business and dilute shareholder value.

We generally seek to acquire businesses that enhance our capabilities and add new technologies, products, services and customers to our existing businesses. We may not be able to continue to identify acquisition candidates on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we make additional business acquisitions, we may not realize the benefits anticipated from these acquisitions, including sales growth, cost synergies and improving margins. Furthermore, we may not be able to obtain additional financing for business acquisitions, since such additional financing could be restricted or limited by the terms of our debt agreements or due to unfavorable capital market conditions.

Further, once integrated, acquisitions may not achieve comparable levels of revenues, profitability or productivity as our existing business or otherwise perform as expected. The occurrence of any of these events could harm our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In 2010, we completed the acquisition of RaySat Antenna Systems, or RAS, a leading provider of -on-the-move antenna solutions, of RaySat BG, a Bulgarian research and development center, and of Wavestream, a provider of SSPAs and BUCs, with high performance solutions designed for mobile and fixed satellite communication, or Satcom, systems worldwide. We may not be able to successfully integrate the businesses or exploit the solutions that we acquired or will acquire in the future. Further, we may not be able to achieve our growth targets for the acquired businesses, which could result in our incurring impairment charges. If our projection for growth in the airborne business does not materialize and we fail to obtain other business in our Mobility Division, we would likely record an impairment of goodwill. In 2015, we performed an analysis of implied carrying value of our Wavestream subsidiary in accordance with ASC 350 and recorded goodwill impairment losses of approximately \$20.4 million. In 2012, we recorded impairment charges to goodwill and other intangible assets related to our investment in Wavestream of \$31.9 million.

The risks associated with acquisitions by us include the following, any of which could seriously harm our results of operations or the price of our shares:

• issuance of equity securities as consideration for acquisitions that would dilute our current shareholders' percentages of ownership;

- significant acquisition costs;
- decrease of our cash balance;
- the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities;
- difficulties in the assimilation and integration of operations, personnel, technologies, products and information systems of the acquired companies;
- diversion of management's attention from other business concerns;
- contractual disputes;
- risks of entering geographic and business markets in which we have no or only limited prior experience;
- potential loss of key employees of acquired organizations;
- the possibility that business cultures will not be compatible;
- the difficulty of incorporating acquired technology and rights into our products and services;
- unanticipated expenses related to integration of the acquired companies; and
- difficulties in implementing and maintaining uniform standards, controls and policies.

Any of these events would likely result in a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The continued decline in or a redirection of the U.S. defense budget could result in a material decrease in our sales, results of operations and cash flows.

Our contracts and sales with and to systems integrators in connection with government contracts in the U.S. are subject to the congressional budget authorization and appropriations process. Congress appropriates funds for a given program on a fiscal year basis, even though contract periods of performance may extend over many years. Consequently, at the beginning of a major program, the contract is partially funded, and additional monies are normally committed to the contract by the procuring agency only as appropriations are made by Congress in future fiscal years. Department of Defense, or DoD, budgets are a function of factors beyond our control, including, but not limited to, changes in U.S. procurement policies, budget considerations, current and future economic conditions, presidential administration priorities, changing national security and defense requirements, geopolitical developments and actual fiscal year congressional appropriations for defense budgets. Any of these factors could result in a significant decline in, or redirection of, current and future DoD budgets and impact our future results of operations.

The impact of a legislation process known as sequestration (or mandated reductions) remains a significant risk. Part I of the Budget Control Act of 2011 in the U.S. provided for a reduction in planned defense budgets by at least \$487 billion over a ten year period. A two-year budget agreement set forth in the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013 lessened the across-the-board cuts of sequestration; however, sequestration continues to be in effect, including for the DoD. Sequestration has already negatively affected some of the defense programs in which we participate and we may continue to be negatively impacted by the continuing effects of sequestration or other defense spending delays and cuts. It is possible that the U.S. government could reduce or further delay its spending on, or reprioritize its spending away from, other government programs and it remains difficult, if not impossible, to determine specific amounts that are or will be appropriated for many of the programs in which we participate. Future congressional appropriation and authorization of defense spending and the application of sequestration remain marked by significant debate and an uncertain schedule. The federal debt limit continues to be actively debated as plans for

long-term national fiscal policy are discussed. The outcome of these debates could have a significant impact on defense spending broadly and programs we support in particular.

The failure of Congress to approve future budgets and/or increase the United States' debt ceiling on a timely basis could delay or result in the loss of contracts for the procurement of our products and services and we may be asked or required to continue to perform for some period of time on certain of our U.S. government contracts, even if the U.S. government is unable to make timely payments. Considerable uncertainty exists regarding how budget reductions will be applied and what challenges the reductions will present.

The continuing pressure on the DoD budget in the United States, along with delayed orders from other clients as well as other elements, were reflected in the reduction of Wavestream's revenues and operational results in 2015 compared to the budget and prior years' results. In 2015, we performed an analysis of Wavestream's implied carrying value in accordance with ASC 350 and recorded goodwill impairment losses of approximately \$20.4 million. In 2014, Wavestream's revenues from sales of SSPAs to systems integrators for government contracts increased compared to 2013. In 2013 and 2014 we performed an impairment test and no impairment charges were identified. In 2012, Wavestream's revenues from sales of SSPAs to systems integrators for government contracts decreased compared to our forecast and its revenues in the prior year, and we recorded impairment charges to goodwill and other intangible assets related to our investment in Wavestream of \$31.9 million in 2012. See Item 5 – "Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Operating Results" of our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 incorporated herein by reference.

Concerns about increased deficit spending, along with continued economic challenges, continue to place pressure on the DoD budget and international customer budgets. These may result in reduced demand for our products, resulting in a reduction in our revenues, and an adverse effect on our business and results of operations, which could potentially trigger further goodwill impairment charges. Uncertainties in governmental spending may also adversely affect our efforts to further penetrate the defense market with our defense-related products. Any of these events would likely result in a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

If we are unable to competitively operate within the network communications market and respond to new technologies, our business could be adversely affected.

The network communications market, which our products and services target, is characterized by rapid technological changes, new product introductions and evolving industry standards. If we fail to stay abreast of significant technological changes, our existing products and technology could be rendered obsolete. Historically, we have endeavored to enhance the applications of our existing products to meet the technological changes and industry standards. Our success is dependent upon our ability to continue to develop new innovative products, applications and services and meet developing market needs.

To remain competitive in the network communications market, we must continue to be able to anticipate changes in technology, market demands and industry standards and to develop and introduce new products, applications and services, as well as enhancements to our existing products, applications and services. Competitors in satellite ground equipment market and low-profile antenna market are introducing new and improved products and our ability to remain competitive in this field will depend in part on our ability to advance our own technology. New products and technologies for power amplifiers, such as Gallium Nitride, or GaN, may compete with our current Wavestream SSPA offerings and may reduce the market prices and success of Wavestream's products. If we are unable to respond to technological advances on a cost-effective and timely basis, or if our new products or applications are not accepted by the market, our business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

A decrease in the selling prices of our products and services could materially harm our business.

The average selling prices of communications products historically decline over product life cycles. In particular, we expect the average selling prices of our products to decline as a result of competitive pricing pressures and customers who negotiate discounts based on large unit volumes. A decrease in the selling prices of our products and services could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we are unable to competitively operate within the HTS satellite environment, our business could be adversely affected.

In the U.S. market, some of our competitors have launched Ka-band satellites. These actions may affect our competitiveness due to the relative lower cost of Ka-band space segment per user as well as the increased integration of the VSAT technology in the satellite solution. Due to the current nature of the HTS solution where the initial investment in ground segment gateway equipment is relatively high, ground segment equipment effectively becomes tightly coupled to the specific satellite technology. As such, there may be circumstances where it is difficult for competitors to compete with the incumbent VSAT vendor using the particular HTS satellite. If this occurs, the market dynamics may change to favor a VSAT vendor partnering with the satellite service provider, which may decrease the number of vendors who may be able to succeed. If we are unable to forge such a partnership our business could be adversely affected.

Although we have entered the HTS market with responsive HTS VSAT technology, we expect that our penetration into that market will be gradual and our success is not assured. In addition, our competitors, who are producing large numbers of HTS VSATs, may benefit from cost advantages. If we are unable to reduce our HTS VSAT costs sufficiently, we may not be competitive in the international market. We also expect that competition in this industry will continue to increase.

If we lose existing contracts or orders for our products are not renewed, our ability to generate revenues will be harmed.

A significant part of our business in previous years, including in 2015, was generated from recurring customers. Accordingly, the termination or non-renewal of our contracts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. Some of our existing contracts could be terminated due to any of the following reasons, among others:

- dissatisfaction of our customers with our products and/or the services we provide or our inability to provide or install additional products or requested new applications on a timely basis;
- customers' default on payments due;
- our failure to comply with financial covenants in our contracts;
- the cancellation of the underlying project by the sponsoring government body; or
- the loss of existing contracts or a decrease in the number of renewals of orders or a decrease in the number of new large orders.

If we are not able to retain our present customer base and gain new customers, our revenues will decline significantly. In addition, if our service businesses in Peru and Colombia do not win new government related contracts, this could materially adversely affect our financial position.

If we fail to penetrate new markets and expand our business in markets other than the defense market in the U.S., our business in the U.S. will remain dependent on the defense market, a reduction of which could have a material adverse effect on our overall business.

A substantial portion of our product revenues from North America are dependent on business from the defense market, being derived directly or indirectly through contractors and system integrators from sales to government agencies, mainly the DoD, pursuant to contracts awarded under defense-related programs. Government spending under such contracts may cease or may be reduced, which would cause a negative effect on our revenues, results of operations, cash flow and financial condition. We experienced a reduction in revenues from such customers in recent years and there is no assurance that there will not be a further reduction in the future. Although we have begun to move into the in-flight connectivity, or IFC, commercial markets, we may not be successful in our plans to penetrate these markets, which are relatively new and untried for our SSPA product line and will require additional expenditures for research and development and sales and marketing. In addition, the market of commercial IFC may fail to grow in accordance with our expectations. We may also not be able to develop new

technologies for those markets on a timely basis. Barriers to entry into those markets or delays in our development programs could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

Our failure to obtain or maintain authorizations under the U.S. export control and trade sanctions laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The export of some of our satellite communication products, related technical information and services is subject to U.S. State Department, Commerce Department and Treasury Department regulations, including International Traffic in Arms Regulations, or ITAR and Export Administration Regulations, or EAR. Under the ITAR, our non–U.S. employees, including employees of our headquarters in Israel are barred from accessing certain information of our U.S. subsidiaries, unless appropriate licenses are obtained. In addition to the U.S. export control laws and regulations applicable to us, some of our subcontractors and vendors may also be subject to U.S. export control laws and regulations. These subcontractors and vendors may be forced to flow down requirements and restrictions imposed on products and services we purchase from them. If we do not maintain our existing authorizations or obtain necessary future authorizations under the export control laws and regulations of the U.S., including by entering into technical assistance agreements to disclose technical data or provide services to foreign persons, we may be unable to export technical information or equipment to non-U.S. persons and companies, including to our own non-U.S. employees, as may be required to fulfill contracts we may enter into. We may also be subjected to ITAR compliance audits in the future that may uncover improper or illegal activities that would subject us to material remediation costs, civil and criminal fines, penalties or an injunction.

In addition, to participate in classified U.S. government programs, we would have to obtain security clearances from the DoD, for one or more of our subsidiaries that would want to participate. Such clearance may require that we enter into a proxy agreement or another similar arrangement with the U.S. government, which would limit our ability to control the operations of the subsidiary and which may impose on us substantial administrative requirements in order to comply. Further, if we materially violate the terms of any proxy agreement, the subsidiary holding the security clearances may be suspended or debarred from performing any government contracts, whether classified or unclassified. If we fail to maintain or obtain the necessary authorizations under the U.S. export control laws and regulations, we may not be able to realize our market focus and our business could be materially adversely affected.

We are dependent on contracts with governments around the world for a significant portion of our revenue. These contracts may expose us to additional business risks and compliance obligations.

We have focused on expanding our business to include contracts with or for various governments and governmental agencies around the world, including the Peruvian Government (through FITEL) and U.S. federal, state, and local government agencies through contractors or systems integrators. The FITEL Regional Projects awarded in March and December 2015 to our subsidiary, GNP, are expected to generate revenues of \$285 million and \$108 million, respectively, over a period of approximately 11 years. In December 2013, Gilat Colombia was awarded a project, which is expected to generate revenues of 189 billion Colombian Pesos (approximately \$58 million, based on the representative rate of exchange published as of January 31, 2016) over the project period, which is expected to end in the first quarter of 2018. Our contracts with international governments generally contain unfavorable termination provisions. Our governmental customers generally may unilaterally suspend us from receiving new contracts pending resolution of alleged violations of procurement laws or regulations and terminate existing contracts and audit our contract-related costs. If a termination right is exercised by a governmental customer, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Additionally, our business generated from government contracts may be materially adversely affected if:

- our reputation or relationship with government agencies is impaired;
- we are suspended or otherwise prohibited from contracting with a domestic or foreign government or any significant law enforcement agency;
- levels of government expenditures and authorizations for law enforcement and security related programs decrease or shift to program in areas where we do not provide products and services;

- we are prevented from entering into new government contracts or extending existing government contracts based on violations or suspected violations of laws or regulations, including those related to procurement;
- we are not granted security clearances that are required to sell our products to domestic or foreign governments or such security clearances are deactivated;
- there is a change in government procurement procedures or conditions of remuneration; or
- there is a change in the political climate that adversely affects our existing or prospective relationships.

We depend on our main facility in Israel and are susceptible to any event that could adversely affect its condition as well as the condition of our facilities elsewhere.

A material portion of our laboratory capacity, our principal offices and principal research and development facilities are concentrated in a single location in Israel. We also have significant facilities for research and development and manufacturing of components for our low profile antennas at a single location in Bulgaria as well as a research and development center in Moldova. Wavestream's principal offices, research and development and engineering and manufacturing facilities are located at a single location in California and its additional research and development and engineering facility is located in Singapore. Fire, natural disaster or any other cause of material disruption in our operation in any of these locations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

We are dependent upon a limited number of suppliers for key components that are incorporated in our products, including those used to build our hubs and VSATs, and may be significantly harmed if we are unable to obtain such components on favorable terms or on a timely basis. We are also dependent upon a limited number of suppliers of space segment, or transponder capacity, and may be significantly harmed if we are unable to obtain the space segment for the provision of services on favorable terms or on a timely basis.

Several of the components required to build our VSATs and hubs are manufactured by a limited number of suppliers. Although we have managed to solve the difficulties we had with our suppliers with respect to availability of components, we cannot assure you of the continued availability of key components or our ability to forecast our component requirements sufficiently in advance. Our research and development and operations groups are continuously working with our suppliers and subcontractors to obtain components for our products on favorable terms in order to reduce the overall price of our products. If we are unable to obtain the necessary volume of components at sufficiently favorable terms or prices, we may be unable to produce our products at competitive prices. As a result, sales of our products may be lower than expected, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, our suppliers are not always able to meet our requested lead times. If we are unable to satisfy customers' needs on time, we could lose their business.

In 2007, we entered into an outsourcing manufacturing agreement with a single source manufacturer for almost all of our VSAT indoor units. This agreement exposes us to certain risks related to our dependence on a single manufacturer which could include failure in meeting time tables and quantities, or material price increases which may affect our ability to provide competitive prices. We estimate that the replacement of the outsourcing manufacturer would, if necessary, take a period of between six to nine months.

There are only a limited number of suppliers of satellite transponder capacity and a limited amount of space segment available. We are dependent on these suppliers for our provision of services in Peru, and Colombia. While we do secure long term agreements with our satellite transponder providers, we cannot assure the continuous availability of space segment, the pricing upon renewals of space segment and the continuous availability and coverage in the regions where we supply services. If we are unable to secure contracts with satellite transponder providers with reliable service at competitive prices, our services business could be adversely affected.

We would be adversely affected if we are unable to attract and retain key personnel.

Our success depends in part on key management, sales, marketing and development personnel and our continuing ability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, including with respect to our acquired companies. There is competition for the services of such personnel. The loss of the services of senior management and key personnel, and the failure to attract highly qualified personnel in the future, may have a negative impact on our business. Moreover, our competitors may hire and gain access to the expertise of our former employees or our former employees may compete with us. In 2015, several members of our management were replaced (including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) and in 2014, three key employees of our Wavestream subsidiary, including Wavestream's chief executive officer, resigned from Wavestream. While we have successfully found replacements for these employees and executives in a timely manner, there is no assurance that such former employees will not compete with us or that we will be able to find replacements for departing key employees in the future.

If demand for our Satcom-On-The-Move products, VSATs and other products declines or if we are unable to develop products to meet demand, our business could be adversely affected.

Our low-profile in-motion antenna systems and a portion of our SSPA product lines are intended for mobile Satcom-On-The-Move applications. If the demand for such products, our VSATs or other products declines, or if we are unable to develop products that are competitive in technology and pricing, we may not be able to realize our market focus and our Satcom-On-The-Move business and other businesses could be materially adversely affected.

We may be unable to adequately protect our proprietary rights, which may limit our ability to compete effectively.

Our business is based mainly on our proprietary technology and related products and services. We establish and protect proprietary rights and technology used in our products by the use of patents, trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks. We also utilize non-disclosure and intellectual property assignment agreements. Because of the rapid technological changes and innovation that characterize the network communications industry, our success will depend in large part on our ability to protect and defend our intellectual property rights. Our actions to protect our proprietary rights in our VSAT and SSPAs technology and other products may be insufficient to protect our intellectual property rights and prevent others from developing products similar to our products. In addition, the laws of many foreign countries do not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. or we may have failed to enter into non-disclosure and intellectual property assignment agreements with certain persons. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our ability to operate our business and generate expected revenues may be harmed.

Breaches of network or information technology security, natural disasters or terrorist attacks could have an adverse effect on our business.

Breaches of network or information technology (IT) security, including unauthorized access or security breaches, inclement weather, natural or man-made disasters, earthquakes, explosions, terrorist attacks, acts of war, floods, fires, cyber-attacks, computer viruses, power loss, telecommunications or equipment failures, transportation interruptions, accidents or other disruptive events or attempts to harm our systems may cause equipment failures or disrupt our systems and operations. In particular, both unsuccessful and successful cyber-attacks on companies have increased in frequency, scope and potential harm in recent years. Any such event result in our inability to operate our facilities, which, even if the event is for a limited period of time, may result in significant expenses and/or loss of market share to other competitors in the market for telemanagement products and invoice management solutions. While we maintain insurance coverage for some of these events, which could offset some of the losses, the potential liabilities associated with these events could exceed the insurance coverage we maintain. A failure to protect the privacy of customer and employee confidential data against breaches of network or IT security could result in damage to our reputation. Any of these occurrences could result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

We have been subject, and will likely continue to be subject, to attempts to breach the security of our networks and IT infrastructure through cyber-attack, malware, computer viruses and other means of unauthorized access. However, to date, we have not been subject to cyber-attacks or other cyber incidents which, individually or in the aggregate, resulted in a material impact to our operations or financial condition.

Trends and factors affecting the telecommunications industry are beyond our control and may result in reduced demand and pricing pressure on our products.

We operate in the telecommunication industry and are influenced by trends of that industry, which are beyond our control and may affect our operations. These trends include:

- adverse changes in the public and private equity and debt markets and our ability, as well as the
 ability of our customers and suppliers, to obtain financing or to fund working capital and capital
 expenditures;
- adverse changes in the credit ratings of our customers and suppliers;
- adverse changes in the market conditions in our industry and the specific markets for our products;
- access to, and the actual size and timing of, capital expenditures by our customers;
- inventory practices, including the timing of product and service deployment, of our customers;
- the amount of network capacity and the network capacity utilization rates of our customers, and the amount of sharing and/or acquisition of new and/or existing network capacity by our customers:
- the overall trend toward industry consolidation and rationalization among our customers, competitors, and suppliers;
- price reductions by our direct competitors and by competing technologies including, for example, the introduction of HTS satellite systems by our direct competitors which could significantly drive down market prices or limit the availability of satellite capacity for use with our VSAT systems;
- conditions in the broader market for communications products, including data networking products and computerized information access equipment and services;
- governmental regulation or intervention affecting communications or data networking;
- monetary instability in the countries where we operate; and
- the effects of war and acts of terrorism, such as disruptions in general global economic activity, changes in logistics and security arrangements, and reduced customer demand for our products and services.

These trends and factors may reduce the demand for our products and services or require us to increase our research and development expenses and may harm our financial results.

Unfavorable global economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition

The financial and economic conditions in the countries in which we operate may cause revenues of our customers to decrease. This may result in reductions in sales of our products and services in some markets, longer sales cycles, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition. In addition, weakness in the enduser market could negatively affect the cash flow of our customers who could, in turn, delay paying their obligations to us or ask us for vendor financing. This could increase our credit risk exposure and cause delays in our recognition of revenues on future sales to these customers. Specific economic trends, such as declines in the demand for telecommunications products and services, the tightening of credit markets, or weakness in corporate spending, could have a direct impact on our business. Any of these events would likely harm our business, operating results and financial condition. If global economic and market conditions do not improve, or weaken further, it may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our international sales expose us to changes in foreign regulations and tariffs, tax exposures, political instability and other risks inherent to international business, any of which could adversely affect our operations.

We sell and distribute our products and provide our services internationally, particularly in the United States, Latin America, Asia, Asia Pacific, Africa and Europe. A component of our strategy is to continue and expand in international markets. Our operations can be limited or disrupted by various factors known to affect international trade. These factors include the following:

- imposition of governmental controls, regulations and taxation which might include a government's decision to raise import tariffs or license fees in countries in which we do business;
- government regulations that may prevent us from choosing our business partners or restrict our activities;
- the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, and applicable anti-corruption laws in other jurisdictions, which include anti-bribery provisions. Our policies mandate compliance with these laws. Nevertheless, we may not always be protected in cases of violation of the FCPA or other applicable anti-corruption laws by our employees or third-parties acting on our behalf. A violation of anti-corruption laws by our employees or third-parties during the performance of their obligations for us may have a material adverse effect on our reputation, operating results and financial condition;
- tax exposures in various jurisdictions relating to our activities throughout the world;
- political and/or economic instability in countries in which we do or desire to do business. Such
 unexpected changes could have an adverse effect on the gross margin of some of our projects.
 This includes similar risks from potential or current political and economic instability as well as
 volatility of foreign currencies in countries such as Colombia, Brazil, Venezuela and certain
 countries in East Asia;
- difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations that might mandate employing staff in various countries to manage foreign operations. This requirement could have an adverse effect on the profitability of certain projects;
- longer payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
- foreign exchange risks due to fluctuations in local currencies relative to the dollar; and
- relevant zoning ordinances that may restrict the installation of satellite antennas and might also
 reduce market demand for our service. Additionally, authorities may increase regulation
 regarding the potential radiation hazard posed by transmitting earth station satellite antennas'
 emissions of radio frequency energy that may negatively impact our business plan and revenues.

Any decline in commercial business in any country may have an adverse effect on our business as these trends often lead to a decline in technology purchases or upgrades by private companies. We expect that in difficult economic periods, countries in which we do business will find it more difficult to raise financing from investors for the further development of the telecommunications industry and private companies will find it more difficult to finance the purchase or upgrade of our technology. Any such changes could adversely affect our business in these and other countries.

If we fail to meet our covenants to the banks, or otherwise breach the terms of our credit agreements, the banks may accelerate payment of outstanding loans and our business could be seriously harmed.

Our loan agreements with banks contain covenants regarding our maintenance of certain financial ratios. The covenants contained in our credit facilities restrict, among other things, our ability to pledge our assets, dispose of assets, or give guarantees. Our ability to continue to comply with these and other obligations depends in part on the future performance of our business. We cannot assure you that we shall be able to continue to comply with the

covenants included in our agreements with the banks. If we fail to comply, we shall be required to renegotiate the terms of our credit facilities with the banks. We cannot assure you that we shall be able to reach an agreement with the banks or that such agreements will be on favorable terms to us. Our ability to restructure or refinance our credit facilities depends on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition. Any refinancing of our existing credit facilities could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with different covenants, which could restrict our business operations.

We may face difficulties in obtaining regulatory approvals for our telecommunication services and products, which could adversely affect our operations.

Certain of our telecommunication operations require licenses and approvals by the Israeli Ministry of Communication, the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, in the U.S. and by regulatory bodies in other countries. In Israel and the U.S., the operation of satellite earth station facilities and VSAT systems such as ours are prohibited except under licenses issued by the Israeli Ministry of Communication and the FCC in the U.S. Our airborne products require licenses and approvals by the Federal Aviation Agency, or FAA. We must also obtain approval of the regulatory authority in each country in which we propose to provide network services or operate VSATs. The approval process in Latin America and elsewhere can often take a substantial amount of time and require substantial resources.

In addition, any licenses and approvals that are granted may be subject to conditions that may restrict our activities or otherwise adversely affect our operations. Also, after obtaining the required licenses and approvals, the regulating agencies may, at any time, impose additional requirements on our operations. We cannot assure you that we will be able to comply with any new requirements or conditions imposed by such regulating agencies on a timely or economically efficient basis.

Our products are also subject to requirements to obtain certification of compliance with local regulatory standards. Delays in receiving such certification could adversely affect our operations.

Currency exchange rates and fluctuations of currency exchange rates may adversely affect our results of operations, liabilities and assets.

Since we operate in several countries, we are impacted by currency exchange rates and fluctuations of various currencies. Although partially mitigated by our hedging activities, we are impacted by currency exchange rates and fluctuations thereof in a number of ways, including the following:

- A significant portion of our expenses, principally salaries and related personnel expenses, are incurred in NIS, and to a lesser extent, other non-U.S. dollar currencies, whereas the currency we use to report our financial results is the U.S. dollar and a significant portion of our revenue is generated in U.S. dollars. A significant strengthening of the NIS against the U.S. dollar can considerably increase the U.S. dollar value of our expenses in Israel and our results of operations may be adversely affected;
- A portion of our international sales is denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, including the Colombian Peso, Australian Dollar, Brazilian Real, Peruvian Sol, Russian Ruble and the Mexican Peso, therefore we are exposed to the risk of devaluation of such currencies relative to the dollar which could have a negative impact on our revenues;
- We have assets and liabilities that are denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies. Therefore, significant fluctuation in these other currencies could have significant effect on our results; and
- A portion of our U.S. dollar revenues are derived from customers operating in local currencies
 which are different from the U.S. dollar. Therefore, devaluation in the local currencies of our
 customers relative to the U.S. dollar could cause our customers to cancel or decrease orders or
 delay payment.

We are also subject to other foreign currency risks including repatriation restrictions in certain countries, particularly in Latin America. During 2015, our financial expenses increased compared to the previous year,

primarily as a result of exchange rate differences between local currency and the U.S. dollar in the countries where some of our subsidiaries are located.

As noted above, from time to time, we enter into hedging transactions to attempt to limit the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. However, the protection provided by such hedging transactions may be partial and leave certain exchange rate-related losses and risks uncovered. Therefore, our business and profitability may be harmed by such exchange rate fluctuations.

The transfer and use of some of our technology and its production is limited because of the research and development grants we received from the Israeli government to develop such technology.

Our research and development efforts associated with the development of certain of our products have been partially financed through grants from the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Israeli Ministry of Economy, or the OCS. We are subject to certain restrictions under the terms of the OCS grants. Specifically, any product incorporating technology developed with the funding provided by these grants may not be manufactured, nor may the technology which is embodied in our products be transferred outside of Israel without appropriate governmental approvals. Such approvals, if granted, may involve increased royalties payments to the OCS (for royalty-bearing programs). These restrictions do not apply to the sale or export from Israel of our products developed with this technology.

We may be subject to claims by third parties alleging that we infringe intellectual property owned by them. We may be required to commence litigation to protect our intellectual property rights. Any intellectual property litigation may continue for an extended period and may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

There are numerous patents, both pending and issued, in the network communications industry. We may unknowingly infringe on a patent. We may from time to time be notified of claims that we are infringing on patents, copyrights or other intellectual property rights owned by third parties. While we do not believe that we have infringed in the past or are infringing at present on any intellectual property rights of third parties, we cannot assure you that we will not be subject to such claims or that damages for any such claim will not be awarded against us by court.

In addition, we may be required to commence litigation to protect our intellectual property rights and trade secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or to defend against third-party claims of invalidity or infringement. An adverse result of any litigation could force us to pay substantial damages, stop designing, manufacturing, using or selling related products, spend significant resources to develop alternative technologies, discontinue using certain processes or obtain licenses. In addition, we may not be able to develop alternative technology, and we may not be able to find appropriate licenses on reasonably satisfactory terms. Any such litigation, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

We are subject to new regulations related to "conflict minerals", which could adversely impact our business.

In August 2012, based on the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the SEC adopted annual disclosure and reporting requirements for those companies who use certain minerals known as "conflict minerals" mined from the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining countries in their products. These new requirements became effective for calendar year 2013 and annually thereafter, with initial disclosure requirements beginning in May 2014. There have been and will continue to be costs associated with complying with these disclosure requirements, including for diligence to determine the sources of conflict minerals used in our products and potentially changes to products, processes or sources of supply as a consequence of such verification activities. The implementation of these rules could adversely affect the sourcing, supply and pricing of materials used in our products. As there may be only a limited number of suppliers offering "conflict free" minerals, we cannot be sure that we will be able to obtain the necessary minerals from such suppliers in sufficient quantities or at competitive prices. Also, we may face reputational challenges if we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict free or if we are unable to sufficiently verify the origins for all conflict minerals used in our products through the procedures we may implement.

Potential product liability claims relating to our products could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may be subject to product liability claims relating to the products we sell. Potential product liability claims could include, among other things, those for exposure to electromagnetic radiation from the antennas we provide. We endeavor to include in our agreements with our business customers provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential claims. We also maintain a product liability insurance policy. However, our contractual limitation of liability may be rejected or limited in certain jurisdiction and our insurance may not cover all relevant claims or may not provide sufficient coverage. To date, we have not experienced any material product liability claim. Our business, financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected if costs resulting from future claims are not covered by our insurance or exceed our coverage.

Our insurance coverage may not be sufficient for every aspect or risk related to our business.

Our business includes risks, only some of which are covered by our insurance. For example, in our satellite capacity agreements, we do not have a backup for satellite capacity, and we do not have indemnification or insurance in the event that our supplier's satellite malfunctions or data is lost. Satellites utilize highly complex technology and operate in the harsh environment of space and therefore are subject to significant operational risks while in orbit. The risks include in-orbit equipment failures, malfunctions and other kinds of problems commonly referred to as anomalies. Satellite anomalies include, for example, circuit failures, transponder failures, solar array failures, telemetry transmitter failures, battery cell and other power system failures, satellite control system failures and propulsion system failures. Liabilities in connection with our products may be covered by insurance only to a limited extent or not covered at all. In addition, we are not covered by our insurance for acts of fraud or theft. Our business, financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected if we incur significant costs resulting from these exposures.

Environmental laws and regulations may subject us to significant liability.

Our operations are subject to various Israeli, U.S. federal, state and local as well as certain other foreign environmental laws and regulations within the countries in which we operate relating to the discharge, storage, treatment, handling, disposal and remediation of certain materials, substances and wastes used in our operations.

New laws and regulations, stricter enforcement of existing laws and regulations, the discovery of previously unknown contamination or the imposition of new clean-up requirements may require us to incur a significant amount of additional costs in the future and could decrease the amount of cash flow available to us for other purposes, including capital expenditures, research and development and other investments and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and future prospects. We may identify deficiencies in our compliance with local legislation within countries in which we operate. Failure to comply with such legislation could result in sanctions by regulatory authorities and could adversely affect our operating results.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Ordinary Shares

Our share price has been highly volatile and may continue to be volatile and decline.

The trading price of our shares has fluctuated widely in the past and may continue to do so in the future as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside our control. In addition, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market prices of many technology companies, particularly telecommunication and Internet-related companies, and that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies. These broad market fluctuations could adversely affect the market price of our shares. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that company. Securities class action litigation against us could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management's attention and resources.

Our operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter and these quarterly variations in operating results, as well as other factors, may contribute to the volatility of the market price of our shares.

Our operating results have and may continue to vary significantly from quarter to quarter. The causes of fluctuations include, among other things:

- the timing, size and composition of requests for proposals or orders from customers;
- the timing of introducing new products and product enhancements by us and the level of their market acceptance;
- the mix of products and services we offer; and
- the changes in the competitive environment in which we operate.

The quarterly variation of our operating results, may, in turn, create volatility in the market price for our shares. Other factors that may contribute to wide fluctuations in our market price, many of which are beyond our control, include, but are not limited to:

- economic instability;
- announcements of technological innovations;
- customer orders or new products or contracts;
- competitors' positions in the market;
- changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;
- conditions and trends in the VSAT and other technology industries relevant to our businesses;
- our earnings releases and the earnings releases of our competitors; and
- the general state of the securities markets (with particular emphasis on the technology and Israeli sectors thereof).

In addition to the volatility of the market price of our shares, the stock market in general and the market for technology companies in particular have been highly volatile and at times thinly traded. Investors may not be able to resell their shares during and following periods of volatility.

We may in the future be classified as a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, which will subject our U.S. investors to adverse tax rules.

U.S. Holders of our ordinary shares may face income tax risks. There is a risk that we will be treated as a "passive foreign investment company" or PFIC. Our treatment as a PFIC could result in a reduction in the after-tax return to the holders of our ordinary shares and would likely cause a reduction in the value of such shares. A foreign corporation will be treated as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes if either (1) at least 75% of its gross income for any taxable year consists of certain types of "passive income," or (2) at least 50% of the average value of the corporation's gross assets produce, or are held for the production of, such types of "passive income." For purposes of these tests, "passive income" includes dividends, interest, gains from the sale or exchange of investment property and rents and royalties other than rents and royalties that are received from unrelated parties in connection with the active conduct of trade or business. For purposes of these tests, income derived from the performance of services does not constitute "passive income". If we are treated as a PFIC, U.S. Holders of shares (or rights) would be subject to a special adverse U.S. federal income tax regime with respect to the income derived by us, the distributions they receive from us, and the gain, if any, they derive from the sale or other disposition of their ordinary shares (or rights). In particular, any dividends paid by us, if any, would not be treated as "qualified dividend income" eligible for preferential tax rates in the hands of non-corporate U.S. shareholders. We believe that we were not a PFIC for the taxable year of 2015. However, since PFIC status depends upon the composition of our income and the market value of our assets from time to time, there can be no assurance that we will not become a

PFIC in any future taxable year. U.S. Holders should carefully read "Material U.S. Federal income Tax Considerations" and "Certain Israeli Tax Considerations" in this Prospectus Supplement and Item 10E. "Additional Information – Taxation" of our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2015 incorporated herein by reference and for a more complete discussion of the U.S. federal income tax risks related to owning and disposing of our ordinary shares (or rights).

Future sales of our ordinary shares and the future exercise of options may cause the market price of our ordinary shares to decline and may result in a substantial dilution.

We cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of our ordinary shares by FIMI and our other significant shareholders, or the availability for future sale of our ordinary shares, including shares issuable upon the exercise of our options, will have on the market price of our ordinary shares. Sales of substantial amounts of our ordinary shares in the public market by our company or our significant shareholders, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of our ordinary shares and may make it more difficult for you to sell your ordinary shares at a time and price you deem appropriate.

We have never paid cash dividends and have no intention to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

We have never paid cash dividends on our shares and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We intend to continue retaining earnings for use in our business, in particular to fund our research and development, which are important to capitalize on technological changes and develop new products and applications. In addition, the terms of some of our financing arrangements restrict us from paying dividends to our shareholders. Any future dividend distributions are subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on various factors, including our operating results, future earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, tax implications of dividend distributions on our income, future prospects and any other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors. The distribution of dividends is also limited by Israeli law, which permits the distribution of dividends by an Israeli corporation only out of its retained earnings as defined in Israel's Companies Law, 5759-1999, or the Companies Law, provided that there is no reasonable concern that such payment will cause us to fail to meet our current and expected liabilities as they become due, or otherwise with the court's permission. You should not invest in our company if you require dividend income from your investment.

Our ordinary shares are traded on more than one market and this may result in price variations.

Our ordinary shares are traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market and on the TASE. Trading in our ordinary shares on these markets is made in different currencies (U.S. dollars on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, and NIS on the TASE), and at different times (resulting from different time zones, different trading days and different public holidays in the U.S. and Israel). Consequently, the trading prices of our ordinary shares on these two markets often differ. Any decrease in the trading price of our ordinary shares on one of these markets could cause a decrease in the trading price of our ordinary shares on the other market.

If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the reliability of our financial statements may be questioned and our share price may suffer.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 imposes certain duties on us and on our executives and directors. To comply with this statute, we are required to document and test our internal control over financial reporting, and our independent registered public accounting firm must issue an attestation report on our internal control procedures, and our management is required to assess and issue a report concerning our internal control over financial reporting. Our efforts to comply with these requirements have resulted in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention, and we expect these efforts to require the continued commitment of significant resources. We may identify material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our assessments of our internal controls over financial reporting. Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could result in investigation or sanctions by regulatory authorities, and could adversely affect our operating results, investor confidence in our reported financial information and the market price of our ordinary shares.

Risks Related to Our Location in Israel

Political and economic conditions in Israel may limit our ability to produce and sell our products. This could have a material adverse effect on our operations and business condition, harm our results of operations and adversely affect our share price.

We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel, where we also maintain our headquarters, manufacturing facilities and most of our research and development facilities. As a result, political, economic and military conditions affecting Israel directly influence us. Any major hostilities involving Israel, a full or partial mobilization of the reserve forces of the Israeli army, the interruption or curtailment of trade between Israel and its trading partners, or a significant downturn in the economic or financial condition of Israel could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Since its establishment in 1948, Israel has been involved in a number of armed conflicts with its Arab neighbors and a state of hostility, varying from time to time in intensity and degree, has continued into 2015. In recent years, there was an escalation in violence among Israel, Hamas, the Palestinian Authority and other groups, as well as an escalation in terrorist attacks since October 2015 and extensive hostilities along Israel's border with the Gaza Strip such as the missiles fired from the Gaza Strip into Israel during July-August 2014. Also, riots and uprisings in several countries in the Middle East and neighboring regions and armed conflicts, including by ISIS, have led to severe political instability in several neighboring states and to a decline in the regional security situation. Such instability may affect the local and global economy, could negatively affect business conditions and, therefore, could adversely affect our operations. In addition, Iran has threatened to attack Israel and is widely believed to be developing nuclear weapons. Iran is also believed to have a strong influence among extremist groups in areas that neighbor Israel, such as Hamas in Gaza and Hezbollah in Lebanon. To date, these matters have not had any material effect on our business and results of operations; however, the regional security situation and worldwide perceptions of it are outside our control and there can be no assurance that these matters will not negatively affect us in the future.

Furthermore, there are a number of countries, primarily in the Middle East, as well as Malaysia and Indonesia that restrict business with Israel or Israeli companies, and we are precluded from marketing our products to these countries directly from Israel. Restrictive laws or policies directed towards Israel or Israeli businesses may have an adverse impact on our operations, our financial results or the expansion of our business.

Your rights and responsibilities as a shareholder are governed by Israeli law and differ in some respects from those under Delaware law.

Because we are an Israeli company, the rights and responsibilities of our shareholders are governed by our Articles of Association and by Israeli law. These rights and responsibilities differ in some respects from the rights and responsibilities of shareholders in a Delaware corporation. In particular, a shareholder of an Israeli company has a duty to act in good faith towards the company and other shareholders and to refrain from abusing his, her or its power in the company, including, among other things, in voting at the general meeting of shareholders on certain matters. Israeli law provides that these duties are applicable to shareholder votes on, among other things, amendments to a company's articles of association, increases in a company's authorized share capital, mergers and interested party transactions requiring shareholder approval. In addition, a shareholder who knows that it possesses the power to determine the outcome of a shareholders' vote or to appoint or prevent the appointment of a director or executive officer in the company has a duty of fairness towards the company. However, Israeli law does not define the substance of this duty of fairness. There is little case law available to assist in understanding the implications of these provisions that govern shareholder behavior.

As a foreign private issuer whose shares are listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, we follow certain home country corporate governance practices instead of certain NASDAQ requirements, which may not afford shareholders with the same protections that shareholders of domestic companies have.

As a foreign private issuer whose shares are listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, we are permitted to follow certain home country corporate governance practices instead of certain requirements of The NASDAQ Marketplace Rules. We follow Israeli law and practice instead of The NASDAQ Marketplace Rules with respect to the director nominations process and the requirement to obtain shareholder approval for the establishment or material amendment of certain equity-based compensation plans and arrangements. As a foreign private issuer listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, we may also follow home country practice with regard to, among

other things, the requirement to obtain shareholder approval for certain dilutive events (such as for an issuance that will result in a change of control of the company, certain transactions other than a public offering involving issuances of a 20% or more interest in the company and certain acquisitions of the stock or assets of another company). A foreign private issuer that elects to follow a home country practice instead of NASDAQ requirements must submit to NASDAQ in advance a written statement from an independent counsel in such issuer's home country certifying that the issuer's practices are not prohibited by the home country's laws. In addition, a foreign private issuer must disclose in its annual reports filed with the SEC each such requirement that it does not follow and describe the home country practice followed by the issuer instead of any such requirement. Accordingly, our shareholders may not be afforded the same protection as provided under NASDAQ's corporate governance rules.

If we are unable to comply with Israel's enhanced export control regulations our ability to export our products from Israel could be negatively impacted.

Our export of military products and related technical information is also subject to enhanced Israeli Ministry of Defense regulations regarding defense export controls and the export of "dual use" items (items that are typically sold in the commercial market but that may also be used in the defense market). Some of our products are exempted from Israeli Ministry of Defense export control. The Israeli Ministry of Defense may change the classification of our existing commercial products or may determine that new products we develop are not exempt from Israeli Ministry of Defense export control. This would place such products subject to the Israeli Ministry of Defense export control regulations as military products or "dual use" items, which would impose on our sales process stringent constraints in relation to each sale transaction and limit our markets. If we do not maintain our existing authorizations and exemption or obtain necessary future authorizations and exemptions under the export control laws and regulations of Israel, including export licenses for the sale of our equipment and the transfer of technical information, we may be unable to export technical information or equipment outside of Israel, we may not be able to realize our market focus and our business could be materially adversely affected.

Our results of operations may be negatively affected by the obligation of our personnel to perform military service.

A significant number of our employees in Israel are obligated to perform annual reserve duty in the Israeli Defense Forces and may be called for active duty under emergency circumstances at any time. If a military conflict or war arises, these individuals could be required to serve in the military for extended periods of time. Our operations could be disrupted by a significant absence of one or more of our key employees or a significant number of other employees due to military service. Any disruption in our operations could adversely affect our business.

You may not be able to enforce civil liabilities in the U.S. against our officers and directors.

We are incorporated in Israel. All of our directors and executive officers reside outside the U.S., and a significant portion of our assets and the personal assets of most of our directors and executive officers are located outside the U.S. Therefore, it may be difficult to effect service of process upon any of these persons within the U.S. In addition, a judgment obtained in the U.S. against us, or against such individuals, including but not limited to judgments based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws, may not be collectible within the U.S.

Additionally, it may be difficult for an investor or any other person or entity, to assert U.S. securities law claims in original actions instituted in Israel. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a claim based on a violation of U.S. securities laws on the ground that Israel is not the most appropriate forum in which to bring such a claim. Even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law is applicable to the claim. Certain matters of procedures will also be governed by Israeli law.

Israeli law may delay, prevent or make difficult a merger with or an acquisition of us, which could prevent a change of control and therefore depress the price of our shares.

Provisions of Israeli law may delay, prevent or make undesirable a merger or an acquisition of all or a significant portion of our shares or assets. Israeli corporate law regulates acquisitions of shares through tender offers and mergers, requires special approvals for transactions involving significant shareholders and regulates other matters that may be relevant to these types of transactions. These provisions of Israeli law could have the effect of

delaying or preventing a change in control and may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our shareholders. These provisions may limit the price that investors may be willing to pay in the future for our ordinary shares. Furthermore, Israeli tax considerations may make potential transactions undesirable to us or to some of our shareholders.

Under current Israeli law and the laws of other jurisdictions, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from the expertise of some of our former employees.

We currently have non-competition clauses in the employment agreements of our employees in certain regions. The provisions of such clauses prohibit our employees, if they cease working for us, from directly competing with us or working for our competitors for a certain period of time. Israeli labor courts have required employers, seeking to enforce non-compete undertakings against former employees, to demonstrate that the competitive activities of the former employee will cause harm to one of a limited number of material interests of the employer recognized by the courts (for example, the confidentiality of certain commercial information or a company's intellectual property). In the event that any of our employees chooses to leave and work for one of our competitors, we may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from the expertise of our former employee obtained from us, if we cannot demonstrate to the court that our interests as defined by case law would be harmed. Non-competition clauses may be unenforceable or enforceable only to a limited extent in other jurisdictions as well.

Risks Relating to the Rights Offering

Because the market prices for our ordinary shares may decline below the share subscription price, you could be committed to buying ordinary shares at a price above the prevailing market price. In addition, we cannot assure you that the listing and admission to trading of the offered shares on the TASE and NASDAQ, and thus the offered shares becoming fungible with our existing ordinary shares, will occur when we expect.

Once you exercise your subscription rights, you may not revoke such exercise even if you later learn information that you consider to be unfavorable to the exercise of your rights. Should the public trading market prices of ordinary shares decline below the share subscription price after you exercise your rights, you will suffer an immediate unrealized loss as a result and you may not be able to sell ordinary shares purchased in the rights offering at a price equal to or greater than the subscription price.

Until the offered shares are admitted to listing and trading on the TASE and NASDAQ, they will not be fungible with our existing ordinary shares currently traded on the TASE and NASDAQ. We cannot assure you that the listing and trading on the TASE and NASDAQ will take place when anticipated. See "The Rights Offering" for further information on the expected dates of these events.

Rights that are not exercised prior to the end of the share subscription period will expire valueless without any compensation.

The share subscription period is expected to commence on February 29, 2016 and is expected to expire at 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on March 21, 2016. Any rights unexercised at the end of the applicable subscription period will expire valueless without any compensation.

Your interest may be diluted as a result of the rights offering.

Holders of ordinary shares who do not fully exercise their respective rights should expect that they will, at the completion of the rights offering, own a smaller proportional interest, or be entitled to own a smaller proportional interest, in our company than would otherwise be the case had they fully exercised their subscription rights.

Certain of our shareholders beneficially own a substantial percentage of our ordinary shares, which may increase if the offering is completed.

As of the date hereof, FIMI, our controlling shareholder, holds approximately 33.8% of our outstanding ordinary shares. The FIMI partnerships have informed us that they intend to exercise their subscription rights in full

and may choose to exercise the over-subscription rights set forth herein, all to such extent that the FIMI partnerships' holdings do not equal or exceed 45% of our voting rights following the exercise of their subscription rights. This concentration of ownership of our ordinary shares could delay or prevent mergers, tender offers, or other purchases of our ordinary shares that might otherwise give our shareholders the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price for our ordinary shares. This concentration could also accelerate these same transactions in lieu of others depriving shareholders of opportunities. This concentration of ownership may also cause a decrease in the volume of trading or otherwise adversely affect our share price.

If we terminate the rights offering for any reason, we will have no obligation other than to return subscription monies promptly.

We may decide, in our discretion and for any reason, to cancel or terminate the rights offering at any time prior to March 21, 2016. If the rights offering is terminated, we will have no obligation with respect to rights that have been exercised except to return promptly, without interest or deduction, the subscription monies deposited with the subscription agent or us. If we terminate the rights offering, all rights will expire worthless.

The subscription price determined for the rights offering is not an indication of the value of our ordinary shares.

The subscription price for the ordinary shares in the rights offering was set by our Board of Directors and does not necessarily bear any relationship to the book value of our assets, results of operations, cash flows, losses, financial condition or any other established criteria for value. You should not consider the subscription price as an indication of the value of our ordinary shares. After the date of this prospectus supplement, our ordinary shares may trade at prices above or below the subscription price.

We will have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds from the rights offering and may not use the proceeds effectively.

As set forth in the section entitled "Use of Proceeds" of this prospectus supplement, we plan to use the proceeds of the rights offering to provide additional funds for our operations and for general corporate purposes and, accordingly, we will have broad discretion in determining how the proceeds of the rights offering will be used. While our Board of Directors believes the flexibility in application of the net proceeds is prudent, the broad discretion it affords entails increased risks to the investors in the rights offering. Investors in the rights offering have no current basis to evaluate the possible merits or risks of any application of the net proceeds of the rights offering. Our shareholders may not agree with the manner in which we choose to allocate and spend the net proceeds.

If you do not act on a timely basis and follow subscription instructions, your exercise of rights may be rejected.

Holders of record of our ordinary shares who desire to purchase our ordinary shares in the rights offering must act on a timely basis to ensure that all required forms and payments are actually received by the U.S. subscription agent or us prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date, unless extended. If you are a beneficial owner of ordinary shares and you wish to exercise your rights, you must act promptly to ensure that your broker, dealer, bank or other nominee acts for you and that all required forms and payments (to the extent payment is then required by your nominee) are actually received by your broker, dealer, bank or other nominee in sufficient time to exercise the rights granted in the rights offering that you beneficially own on the expiration date, as may be extended. We will not be responsible if your broker, dealer, bank, or other nominee fails to meet this deadline.

For the subscription procedures that apply to your exercise in the rights offering, see "The Rights Offering – Methods for Exercising Rights". If you fail to follow these subscription procedures, we may, depending on the circumstances, reject your subscription or accept it only partially. Neither we, the U.S. subscription agent nor the TASE Clearinghouse undertakes to contact you concerning an incomplete or incorrect subscription form or payment, nor are we under any obligation to correct such forms or payment. We have the sole discretion to determine whether a subscription exercise properly follows the subscription procedures.

If, as a result of the exercise of your subscription rights, you reach certain holding thresholds in our ordinary shares, you may be subject to certain regulatory requirements, including disclosure of your shareholdings, and you may require Israeli government approval and/or need to divest shares in our competitors in order to acquire the shares for which you subscribed.

You may be subject to certain regulatory requirements if, as a result of the exercise of your subscription rights, you reach certain holding thresholds of beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares. For example, if your exercise of subscription rights results in you beneficially owning more than 5% of our ordinary shares, you may be required to file a Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G with the SEC.

If we cancel or terminate the rights offering, the adjustment made by the TASE to the opening price of our ordinary shares on the TASE Ex-day will not be reversed.

In accordance with the rules of the TASE, the TASE will adjust the opening price of our ordinary shares at the opening of trading on the TASE Ex-day (which is the first day that our ordinary shares will trade on the TASE without entitlement to receive the rights). If we cancel or terminate the rights offering, such adjustment made by the TASE will not be reversed and as a result could cause the market price of our ordinary shares to decline.

You may not receive any or all of the amount of rights for which you over-subscribed.

Holders who fully exercise their basic subscription rights will be entitled to subscribe for additional rights that remain unsubscribed as a result of any unexercised basic subscription rights. We will allocate the available shares proportionately by calculating the number of rights you properly exercised using your basic subscription rights relative to the number of rights properly exercised using the basic subscription rights by all subscribers who have over-subscribed. If this allocation results in you being allocated a greater number of shares than you subscribed for, then you will be allocated only that number of shares for which you subscribed, and the remaining shares will be allocated among all other holders exercising the over-subscription privilege on the same basis described above. This allocation process will be repeated until all shares subscribed for have been allocated. As a result, you may not receive all of the shares for which you over-subscribed if there are insufficient shares available. If the prorated amount of rights allocated to you in connection with your over-subscription right is less than your over-subscription request, then the excess funds held by the U.S. subscription agent or us on your behalf will be returned to you promptly without interest or deduction and we will have no further obligations to you.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus supplement, including the documents incorporated by reference herein, contains forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as "may", "might", "will", "should", "expects", "plans", "anticipates", "believes", "estimates", "predicts", "potential" or "continue", the negative of these terms and other comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us, may include projections of our future financial performance, our anticipated growth strategies and anticipated trends in our business. These statements are only predictions based on our current expectations and projections about future events. There are important factors that could cause our actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from the results, level of activity, performance or implied by the forward-looking statements, including those factors discussed under the caption "Risk Factors" and under similar headings in the other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement.

Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, level of activity, performance or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-looking statements. We are under no duty to update any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this prospectus supplement to conform our prior statements to actual results or revised expectations, except as otherwise required by law.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Assuming full participation in the rights offering, the total subscription price for the subscription rights offered in the rights offering will be at maximum \$35.3 million, from which expenses related to the rights offering payable by us, estimated at \$0.4 million, should be deducted.

	e net proceeds recei l corporate purpose:	ercise of the right	s to provide addi	tional funds for

PRICE RANGE OF ORDINARY SHARES

Our ordinary shares are quoted on NASDAQ and the TASE under the symbol "GILT". The following table sets forth, for each of the financial quarters in the years indicated, the range of high ask and low bid prices of our ordinary shares on NASDAQ and the TASE:

	NASDAQ		TASE	
·	High	Low	High	Low
2016				
First quarter (through February 17,	\$3.92	\$3.28	\$4.03	\$3.22
2016)				
<u>2015</u>				
First quarter	\$6.10	\$4.42	\$6.23	\$4.39
Second quarter	\$7.07	\$5.23	\$6.93	\$5.21
Third quarter	\$5.75	\$3.36	\$5.88	\$3.31
Fourth quarter	\$4.06	\$3.11	\$4.10	\$3.09
2014				
First quarter	\$5.71	\$4.60	\$5.68	\$4.55
Second quarter	\$5.11	\$4.50	\$5.24	\$4.45
Third quarter	\$5.13	\$4.51	\$5.17	\$4.51
Fourth quarter	\$5.18	\$4.65	\$5.18	\$4.57
2013				
First quarter	\$6.20	\$5.01	\$5.88	\$5.20
Second quarter	\$5.78	\$5.17	\$5.79	\$5.16
Third quarter	\$6.11	\$4.50	\$6.00	\$4.61
Fourth quarter	\$5.30	\$4.09	\$5.33	\$4.05

The following table sets forth, for the most recent six months, the range of high ask and low bid prices of our ordinary shares on NASDAQ and the TASE:

	NASDAQ		TASE	
_	High	Low	High	Low
August 2015	\$5.58	\$4.15	\$5.60	\$4.13
September 2015	\$4.22	\$3.36	\$4.27	\$3.31
October 2015	\$3.85	\$3.41	\$3.88	\$3.41
November 2015	\$4.06	\$3.11	\$4.10	\$3.09
December 2015	\$3.96	\$3.30	\$4.03	\$3.26
January 2016	\$3.60	\$3.28	\$3.70	\$3.22
February 2016 (through February 17,	\$3.92	\$3.51	\$4.03	\$3.43
2016)				

Share prices on the TASE are quoted in NIS. The share prices set forth above in U.S. dollars reflect the translation into U.S. dollars based on the rate of exchange published by the Bank of Israel on the dates in question.

The last sale price of our ordinary shares on NASDAQ on February 17, 2016 was \$3.87 per ordinary share, and the last sale price of our ordinary shares on the TASE on February 17, 2016 was NIS 14.82 per ordinary share (approximately \$3.79, based on the exchange rate reported by the Bank of Israel as of such date).

CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and our unaudited consolidated capitalization as of December 31, 2015 (i) on an actual basis and (ii) on an as adjusted basis to give effect to the issuance of 9,860,144 ordinary shares in this rights offering, assuming the exercise of all of the subscription rights at a subscription price of \$7.16 (reflecting a price of \$3.58 per share) with aggregate net proceeds of approximately \$34.9 million after deducting our payment of estimated offering expenses, and the application of the net proceeds therefrom as described under the heading "Use of Proceeds".

The following table should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and related notes, which are incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement.

		As
	Actual	Adjusted
	(U.S. dollars i	in thousands)
	(unau	dited)
Cash and cash equivalents	\$18,435	\$53,334
Restricted cash	100,958	100,958
Restricted cash held by trustees	8,524	8,524
Total cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash held by	440 64	4468.046
trustees	\$127,917	<u>\$162,816</u>
Liabilities:		
Total current liabilities	159,774	159,774
Total long-term liabilities	32,977	32,997
Total liabilities	,	. ,
Total Habilities	\$192,751	<u>\$192,751</u>
Shareholders' equity:		
Share capital:		
Ordinary shares of NIS 0.2 par value:		
90,000,000 shares authorized; 44,333,047 shares issued and		
outstanding; 54,193,191 shares issued and outstanding, as adjusted	2,048	2,553
Additional paid-in capital	884,126	918,520
Accumulated other comprehensive income	(3,727)	(3,727)
Accumulated deficit	(704,365)	(704,365)
Total shareholders' equity	178,082	212,981
2000 00000000 04000	1.0,002	212,501
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$370,833	\$405,732

DILUTION

Purchasers of our ordinary shares in the rights offering will experience an immediate dilution of the net tangible book value per ordinary share. Our net tangible book value as of December 31, 2015 was approximately \$117.5 million, or \$2.65 per ordinary share (based upon 44,333,047 of our ordinary shares outstanding). Net tangible book value per share is equal to our total net tangible book value, which is our total tangible assets less our total liabilities, divided by the number of our ordinary shares outstanding. Dilution per share equals the difference between the amount per share paid by purchasers of ordinary shares in the rights offering and the net tangible book value per ordinary share immediately after the rights offering.

Based on the aggregate offering of a maximum of 9,860,144 ordinary shares and after deducting estimated offering expenses payable by us of \$400,000, and the application of the estimated \$34,899,315 of net proceeds from the rights offering, our pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2015 would have been approximately \$152.4 million, or \$2.81 per share. This represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value to existing shareholders of \$0.16 per ordinary share and an immediate dilution to purchasers in the rights offering of \$0.77 per ordinary share.

The following table illustrates this per share dilution (assuming a fully subscribed rights offering of ordinary shares at the subscription price of \$7.16 (which reflects a share price of \$3.58 per share):

Subscription price		\$7.16
Subscription price per share		\$3.58
Net tangible book value per ordinary share prior to the rights offering	\$2.65	
Increase per ordinary share attributable to the rights offering	\$0.16	
Pro forma net tangible book value per ordinary share after the rights offering	·	\$2.81
Dilution in net tangible book value per ordinary share to purchasers		\$0.77

DESCRIPTION OF ORDINARY SHARES

The following description of our share capital and provisions of our Articles of Association are summaries and are qualified by reference to the Articles of Association, which have been filed with the SEC and incorporated by reference as an exhibit to our registration statement, of which this prospectus supplement forms a part.

Our authorized share capital consists of 90,000,000 ordinary shares, nominal value NIS 0.20 per share. All outstanding ordinary shares are validly issued and fully paid. Certain rights attached to the ordinary shares are as described below.

Voting Rights. Holders of ordinary shares have one vote for each ordinary share held on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders. Shareholders may vote in person or by proxy. These voting rights may be affected by the grant of any special voting rights to the holders of a class of shares with preferential rights that may be authorized in the future by the shareholders.

Dividend and Liquidation Rights; Rights to Shares in our Company's Profits. Our ordinary shares are entitled to the full amount of any cash or share dividend declared, in proportion to the paid up nominal value of their respective holdings. In the event of liquidation, after satisfaction of liabilities to creditors, our assets will be distributed to the holders of our ordinary shares in proportion to the paid up nominal value of their respective holdings. Such rights may be affected by the grant of preferential dividend or distribution rights to the holders of a class of shares with preferential rights that may be authorized in the future by the shareholders.

Generally, pursuant to the Companies Law, the decision to distribute dividends and the amount to be distributed, whether interim or final, is made by the Board of Directors. Accordingly, under our Articles of Association, our Board of Directors has the authority to determine the amount and time for payment of interim dividends and final dividends.

Under the Companies Law, dividends may be paid only out of a company's net profits for the two years preceding the distribution of the dividends, or from accumulated retained earnings, calculated in the manner prescribed in the Companies Law. Pursuant to the Companies Law, in any distribution of dividends, our Board of Directors is required to determine that there is no reasonable concern that the distribution of dividends will prevent our company from meeting our existing and foreseeable obligations as they become due. Our Articles of Association provide that no dividends shall be paid otherwise than out of our profits and that any such dividend shall carry no interest. In addition, upon the recommendation of our Board of Directors, approved by the shareholders, we may cause dividends to be paid in kind.

Our shareholders have the right to share in our profits distributed as a dividend and any other permitted distribution, if any.

Annual General Meetings and Special General Meetings. Under the Companies Law, an annual meeting of the shareholders should be held once in every calendar year and not more than 15 months from the last annual meeting. The Companies Law provides that a special meeting of shareholders must be called by the Board of Directors upon the written request of (i) two directors, (ii) one-fourth of the serving directors, (iii) one or more shareholders who hold(s) at least five percent of the issued share capital and at least one percent of the voting power of the company, or (iv) one or more shareholders who have at least five percent of the voting power of the company. Within 21 days of receipt of such demand, the Board of Directors is required to convene the special meeting for a time not later than 35 days after notice has been given to the shareholders. Our Articles of Association provide that our Board of Directors may call a special meeting of the shareholders at any time and shall be obligated to call a special meeting as specified above.

Record Date for General Meeting. Under the regulations promulgated under the Companies Law, for the purpose of a shareholder vote, the record date for companies traded outside of Israel, such as our company, can be set between four and 40 days before the date of the meeting.

Notice of General Meetings; Omission to Give Notice. The Companies Law provides that a company whose shares are traded on an exchange must give notice of a general meeting to its shareholders of record at least 21 days, and in certain instances at least 35 days, prior to the meeting, unless the company's articles of association provide that a notice need not be sent. Accordingly, our Articles of Association provide that not less than 21 days' prior notice shall be given to shareholders of record of every general meeting of shareholders. It further provides that notice of a general meeting of shareholders shall be given in accordance with any law and otherwise as the Board of Directors may determine. In addition, our Articles of Association provide that no shareholder present, in person or by proxy, at the commencement of a general meeting of shareholders shall be entitled to seek the revocation of any proceedings or resolutions adopted at such general meeting of shareholders on grounds of any defect in the notice of such meeting relating to the time or the place thereof.

Quorum at General Meetings. Under our Articles of Association, the required quorum for any general meeting of shareholders and for any class meeting is two or more shareholders present in person or by proxy and holding at least twenty five percent (25%) of the issued shares (or of the issued shares of such class in the event of a class meeting). The required quorum in a meeting that was adjourned because a quorum was not present, shall be two shareholders present in person or by proxy. Under our Articles of Association, if the original meeting was called as a special meeting, the quorum in the adjourned meeting shall be one or more shareholders, present in person or by proxy and holding the number of shares required to call such a meeting.

Adoption of Resolutions at General Meetings. Our Articles of Association provide for voting by a written ballot only. In addition, in accordance with the Companies Law, our Articles of Association provide that the declaration of the chairman of the meeting as to the results of a vote is not considered to be conclusive, but rather prima facie evidence of the fact. Under our Articles of Association, unless a different majority is required by law, any resolution of the shareholders, except a resolution for a voluntary liquidation of the company and, in certain circumstances, a resolution to amend our Articles of Association, shall be deemed adopted if approved by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented at such meeting in person or by proxy.

Election and Removal of Directors. Under our Articles of Association, the ordinary shares do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. Under our Articles of Association, our Board of Directors shall consist of not less than five and not more than nine directors as shall be determined from time to time by a majority vote at the general meeting of our shareholders. Our shareholders have resolved that our Board of Directors should consist of a total of eight directors, including two external directors.

Our Articles of Association further provide that each beneficial owner of 14% or more of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares shall be entitled to appoint, at each annual general meeting of our shareholders, one member to our Board of Directors referred to as an "appointed director", provided that a total of not more than four "appointed directors" are so appointed. In the event more than four such qualifying beneficial owners notify us that they desire to appoint an "appointed director", only the four shareholders beneficially owning the greatest number of shares shall each be entitled to appoint an "appointed director".

For the purposes of the preceding paragraph, a "beneficial owner" of ordinary shares means any person or entity who, directly or indirectly, has the power to vote, or to direct the voting of, such ordinary shares. All ordinary shares beneficially owned by a person or entity, regardless of the form which such beneficial ownership takes, shall be aggregated in calculating the number of ordinary shares beneficially owned by such person or entity. All persons and entities that are affiliates (as defined below) of each other shall be deemed to be one person or entity for the purposes of this definition. For the purposes of the preceding paragraph, an "affiliate" means, with respect to any person or entity, any other person or entity controlling, controlled by, or under common control with such person or entity. "Control" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in the Israeli Securities Law – 1968, i.e., the ability to direct the acts of a company. Any person holding one half or more of the voting power of a company of the right to appoint directors or to appoint the chief executive officer is presumed to have control of the company.

The Articles of Association further stipulate that as a condition to the appointment of an "appointed director", any appointing shareholder that delivers to our company a letter of appointment shall, prior to such delivery, be required to file with the SEC a Schedule 13D, or an amendment to its Schedule 13D if there is any change in the facts set forth in its Schedule 13D already on file with the SEC which discloses any such change in its holdings of ordinary shares, regardless of whether any filing or amendment is required to be filed under the rules of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. In addition,

any appointing shareholder shall be obligated to notify us in writing of any sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition of any kind of ordinary shares by such appointing shareholder that results in the reduction of its beneficial ownership to below the percentage indicated above, immediately after the occurrence of such disposition of shares but in any event not later than the earliest of (i) ten (10) days thereafter, or (ii) the next annual general meeting. Without derogating from the foregoing, so long as an "appointed director" serves on the Board of Directors, the appointing shareholder which appointed such "appointed director" shall provide us, upon our written request at any time and from time to time, with reasonable evidence of its beneficial ownership in our company.

Under our Articles of Association, so long as our ordinary shares are listed for trading on NASDAQ, we may require that any "appointed director" qualify as an "independent director" as provided for in the NASDAQ rules then in effect. In addition, in no event may a person become an "appointed director" unless such person does not, at the time of appointment, and did not, within two years prior thereto, engage, directly or indirectly, in any activity which competes with us, whether as a director, officer, employee, contractor, consultant, partner or otherwise.

Under our Articles of Association, the annual general meeting of our shareholders, by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented at such meeting in person or by proxy, will elect the remaining members of the Board of Directors. At any annual general meeting at which "appointed directors" are appointed as set forth above, the calculation of the vote of any beneficial owner who appointed a director pursuant to the preceding paragraph shall not take into consideration, for the purpose of electing the remaining directors, ordinary shares constituting 14% of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares held by such appointing beneficial owner.

"Appointed director" service will expire upon the removal of the "appointed director" by the shareholder who appointed such "appointed director" or when the "appointed director" ceases to qualify as an "independent director" as set forth above.

Currently, no shareholder beneficially holding 14% or more of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares has exercised its right to appoint an "appointed director".

Our Articles of Association further provide that the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares then represented at a general meeting of shareholders shall be entitled to remove director(s) other than "appointed directors" from office (unless pursuant to circumstances or events prescribed under the Companies Law), to elect directors instead of directors so removed or to fill any vacancy, however created, in the Board of Directors. Subject to the foregoing and to early resignation or ipso facto termination of office as provided in our Articles of Association, each director shall serve until the adjournment of the annual general meeting following the general meeting at which such director was elected.

Our directors may, at any time and from time to time, appoint a director to temporarily fill a vacancy on the Board of Directors or in their body (subject to the maximum number of directors in the Board of Directors as set forth above), except that if the number of directors then in office constitutes less than a majority of the number of directors set by the shareholders, as mentioned above, they may only act in an emergency, or to fill the vacancy up to the minimum number required to effect corporate action or in order to call a general meeting for the purpose of electing directors.

Qualification of Directors. Our Articles of Association provide that no person shall be disqualified to serve as a director by reason of him not holding shares in our company or by reason of him having served as director in the past. Our directors are not subject under the Companies Law or our Articles of Association to an age limit requirement. Under the Companies Law, a person cannot serve as a director if such person has been convicted of certain offenses (generally, for 5 years after such conviction, unless specifically authorized by the court), if an administrative decision by the Israeli Securities Authority disqualified such director to be nominated to the board of a public company, or if the person has been declared bankrupt.

Borrowing Powers. The Companies Law authorizes the Board of Directors of a company, among other things, to determine the credit limit of a company and to issue bonds. Our Articles of Association state that our Board of Directors may, from time to time, at its discretion, cause us to borrow or secure the payment of any sum or sums of money, and may secure or provide for the repayment of such sum or sums in such manner, at such times and upon such terms and conditions as it deems fit.

Foreign Ownership. Neither our Articles of Association nor Israeli law restrict in any way the ownership of our ordinary shares by nonresidents of Israel, or restrict the voting or other rights of nonresidents of Israel. Notwithstanding, under Israeli law, nationals of certain countries that are, or have been, in a state of war with Israel may not be recognized as owners of ordinary shares, without a special government permit.

Change of Control Provisions under Israeli Law. The Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares in a public company, such as ours, must be made by means of a tender offer, if, as a result of the acquisition, the purchaser would become a holder of 25% or more of the voting rights in the company. This rule does not apply if there is already another holder of 25% percent of the voting rights. Similarly, the Companies Law provides that an acquisition of the shares must be made by means of a tender offer, if, as a result of the acquisition, a person would become a holder of 45% of the voting rights in the company, unless there is another person holding at that time more than 45% of the voting rights of the company.

The Companies Law provides for mergers between Israeli companies, if each party to the transaction obtains the appropriate approval of its Board of Directors and shareholders. A "merger" is defined in the Companies Law as a transfer of all assets and liabilities (including conditional, future, known and unknown liabilities) of a target company to another company, the consequence of which is the dissolution of the target company in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law. For purposes of the shareholder vote of each merging entity, unless a court rules otherwise, the merger requires the approval of a majority of the shares of that entity that are not held by the other entity or are not held by any person who holds 25% or more of the shares or the right to appoint 25% or more of the directors of the other entity. Our Articles of Association provide that a merger requires the approval of the holders of a majority of the shares voting thereon.

If, however, the merger involves a merger with a company's own controlling shareholder or if the controlling shareholder has a personal interest in the merger, then the merger is subject to the same special majority approval that governs all extraordinary transactions with controlling shareholders. In the event that the merger transaction has not been approved by either of the above-described special majorities (as applicable), the holders of at least 25% of the voting rights of the company may apply to a court for approval of the merger. The court may approve the merger if it is found that the merger is fair and reasonable, taking into account the valuation of the parties to the merger and the consideration offered to the shareholders.

Upon the request of a creditor of either party to the proposed merger, a court may delay or prevent the merger if it concludes that there exists a reasonable concern that as a result of the merger, the surviving company will be unable to satisfy the obligations of any of the parties of the merger to their creditors.

A merger may not be completed unless at least 50 days have passed from the date that a proposal of the merger was filed with the Israeli Registrar of Companies by each merging company and 30 days from the date that shareholder approval of both merging companies was obtained. The merger proposal may be filed once a shareholder meeting has been called to approve the merger.

Modification of Rights Attached to Shares. The rights attached to any class of shares (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of such class), such as voting, dividends and the like, may be modified by the affirmative vote of a majority of the issued shares of the class at a general meeting of the holders of the shares of such class.

Transfer Agent and Registrar. The transfer agent and registrar for our ordinary shares is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.

NASDAQ Global Select Market and Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. Our ordinary shares are listed on the TASE and on NASDAQ under the symbol "GILT".

BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF ORDINARY SHARES

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares, as of February 17, 2016, by:

- each person who we believe beneficially owns 5% or more of our outstanding ordinary shares, and
- all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership of shares is determined under rules of the SEC and generally includes any shares over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. The percentage ownership of each such person is based on the number of ordinary Shares outstanding as of February 17, 2016 and includes the number of ordinary shares underlying options and RSUs that are exercisable within sixty (60) days from the date of February 17, 2016. Ordinary Shares subject to these options and RSUs are deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the ownership percentage of the person holding these options and RSUs, but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the ownership percentage of any other person. The information in the table below is based on 44,370,647 Ordinary Shares outstanding as of February 17, 2016. Each of our outstanding ordinary shares has identical rights in all respects. The information in the table below with respect to the beneficial ownership of shareholders is based on the public filings of such shareholders with the SEC through February 17, 2016 and information provided to us by such shareholders.

Name	Number of Shares	Percent
FIMI Funds (1).	15,042,672	33.8%
Itshak Sharon (Tshuva) (2)	5,222,218	11.8%
Mivtah Shamir Holdings Ltd. (3)	4,398,256	9.9%
Meitav Dash Investments Ltd. (4)	2,365,786	5.3%
persons) (5)	1,322,521	3.0%

⁽¹⁾ Based on a Schedule 13D/A filed on December 4, 2014 with the SEC and information provided to the Company, FIMI Opportunity IV, L.P., FIMI Israel Opportunity IV, Limited Partnership (the "FIMI IV Funds"), FIMI Opportunity V, L.P., FIMI Israel Opportunity Five, Limited Partnership (the "FIMI V Funds" and together with the FIMI IV Funds, the "FIMI Funds"), FIMI IV 2007 Ltd., FIMI FIVE 2012 Ltd., Shira and Ishay Davidi Management Ltd. and Mr. Ishay Davidi share voting and dispositive power with respect to the 15,017,672 shares held by the FIMI Funds. FIMI IV 2007 Ltd. is the managing general partner of the FIMI V Funds. FIMI FIVE 2012 Ltd. is the managing general partner of the FIMI V Funds. Shira and Ishay Davidi Management Ltd. controls FIMI IV 2007 Ltd. and FIMI FIVE 2012 Ltd. Mr. Ishay Davidi controls Shira and Ishay Davidi Management Ltd. and is the Chief Executive Officer of all the entities listed above. These holdings include options to purchase 100,000 ordinary shares held by FIMI IV 2007 Ltd., which are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days of the date hereof granted to it by our company in connection with the service of its executives, Ishay Davidi and Amiram Boehm, as members of our Board. The principal business address of each of the above entities and of Mr. Davidi is c/o FIMI IV 2007 Ltd., Electra Tower, 98 Yigal Alon St., Tel-Aviv 6789141, Israel.

⁽²⁾ Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on June 2, 2015 with the SEC by Itshak Sharon (Tshuva), Delek Group Ltd. and The Phoenix Holding Ltd and other information provided to us by such shareholders. The ordinary shares are beneficially owned by various direct or indirect, majority or wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Phoenix Holding Ltd. ("the Subsidiaries"). The Subsidiaries manage their own funds and/or the funds of others, including for holders of exchange-traded notes or various insurance policies, members of pension or provident funds, unit holders of mutual funds, and portfolio management clients. Each of the Subsidiaries operates under independent management and makes its own independent voting and investment decisions. The Phoenix Holding Ltd. is a majority-owned subsidiary of Delek Group Ltd. The majority of Delek Group Ltd.'s outstanding share capital and voting rights are owned, directly and indirectly, by Itshak Sharon (Tshuva) through private companies wholly-owned by him, and the remainder is held by the public. The principal business address of Itshak Sharon (Tshuva) and Delek Investments and Properties Ltd. is 7 Giborei Israel Street, P.O.B. 8464, Netanya, 4250407, Israel. The principal business address of the Phoenix Holding Ltd. is Derech Hashalom 53, Givataim, 5345433, Israel.

⁽³⁾ Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on December 15, 2015 by Mivtah Shamir Holdings Ltd. The principal office of Mivtah Shamir Holdings Ltd. is 27 Habarzel Street, Tel-Aviv.

- (4) Based on a Schedule 13G filed on January 6, 2016, Meitav Dash Investments Ltd. ("Meitav") is controlled by: (1) BRM Group Ltd. ("BRM Group") which holds Meitav's shares through BRM Finance Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of BRM Group. The shareholders of BRM Group are Messrs. Eli Barkat, Nir Barkat (Messrs. Eli Barkat and Nir Barkat are brothers) and Yuval Rakavy, each holds 33.3% through his controlled companies; and (2) Mr. Zvi Stepak who holds Meitav's shares through Maya Holdings (Ye'elim) Ltd. ("Maya holdings") a company which he controls and Nili (Amir) Holdings Ltd. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Maya Holdings). Meitav holds 2,365,786 ordinary shares as follows: (i) 518,882 ordinary shares owned by Mutual Funds of Meitav Dash Investments LTD group; (ii) 1,228,438 ordinary shares owned by Provident Funds of Meitav Dash Investments LTD group; (iii) 570,271 ordinary shares owned by ETFs of Meitav Dash Investments LTD group, and (iv) 48,195 ordinary shares owned by the Portfolio Management of Meitav Dash Investments LTD group. The principal business address of Meitav is 30 Derekh Sheshet Ha-yamim, Bene-Beraq, Israel.
- (5) As of February 17, 2016 all directors and executive officers as a group (17 persons) held 470,832 options that are vested or that vest within 60 days of February 17, 2016.

THE RIGHTS OFFERING

Terms of the Offer

We will distribute, at no charge to the holders of our ordinary shares on February 29, 2016, which we refer to as the record date, subscription rights to purchase up to an aggregate of 9,860,144 of our ordinary shares. The total subscription price for the rights offered in the rights offering will be at maximum \$35.3 million, assuming full exercise of all the subscription rights. See below for additional information regarding subscription by DTC and TASE Clearinghouse participants.

Each shareholder is being issued <u>one</u> right for every <u>nine</u> of our ordinary shares owned on the record date. Each right carries with it a basic subscription right and an over-subscription right.

Each right entitles the holder to purchase, at the subscription price of \$7.16 (reflecting a price of \$3.58 per share), two ordinary shares with the terms described below.

Subscription right holders who fully exercise their basic subscription rights will be entitled to subscribe for additional ordinary shares that remain unsubscribed as a result of any unexercised basic subscription rights. We refer to this as the over-subscription right. You must exercise your rights with respect to the basic subscription right and the over-subscription right at the same time. We will allocate the available shares proportionately by calculating the number of rights you properly exercised using your basic subscription rights relative to the number of rights properly exercised using the basic subscription rights by all subscribers who have over-subscribed. If this allocation results in you being allocated a greater number of shares than you subscribed for, then you will be allocated only that number of shares for which you subscribed, and the remaining shares will be allocated among all other holders exercising the over-subscription privilege on the same basis described above. This allocation process will be repeated until all shares subscribed for have been allocated. Your rights may only be exercised for whole numbers of ordinary shares; no fractional ordinary shares will be issued in the rights offering. See below "Fractional Securities."

The subscription rights are not transferable (except by operation of law), and will not be tradable on any trading market.

You may be subject to certain regulatory requirements if, as a result of the exercise of your subscription rights, you reach certain holding thresholds of beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares. For example, if your exercise of subscription rights results in you beneficially owning more than 5% of our ordinary shares, you may be required to file a Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G with the SEC.

Rights may be exercised at any time during the subscription period, which commences on March 29, 2016 and ends at 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time), on March 21, 2016, the expiration date, unless we decide to terminate the rights offering prior to March 21, 2016. If you are a beneficial owner of our ordinary shares and/or hold them through a broker, dealer, bank or other nominee (including a participant of DTC or a member of the TASE), rather than in your own name, and you wish to exercise your subscription rights, you should contact your nominee to exercise your subscription rights sufficiently in advance of the expiration date of the rights offering in order to ensure timely delivery of a subscription rights certificate reflecting your exercise. Your nominee will instruct you as to the proper time and form of payment of the subscription price. If you hold your rights through an Israeli brokerage company that holds the rights through the TASE Clearinghouse, you must notify your Israeli brokerage company of your election to exercise your rights on or before March 21, 2016, at such time as determined by the applicable Israeli brokerage company. The related payment will be collected from the clients of TASE members and will be transferred to us on March 21, 2016. Any rights not exercised at or before the applicable time will expire without any payment to the holders for those unexercised rights. See "Methods of Exercise of Rights" and "Payment of Subscription Price".

The rights will be evidenced by subscription rights certificates which will be mailed to shareholders.

For purposes of determining the number of rights a holder may acquire in the rights offering, holders whose ordinary shares are held of record by Cede & Co. or the Nominee Company of Discount Bank Ltd. will be

deemed to be the holders of the rights that are issued to Cede& Co. or the Nominee Company of Discount Bank Ltd., respectively.

There is no minimum subscription amount required for consummation of the rights offering.

Allocation and Exercise of Over-Subscription Rights

In order to properly exercise an over-subscription right, a rights holder must: (i) exercise its basic subscription right in full, (ii) indicate on its subscription rights certificate that it submits with respect to the exercise of the rights issued to it how many additional ordinary shares it is willing to acquire pursuant to its over-subscription right and (iii) concurrently deliver the subscription payment related to its over-subscription right at the time it makes payment for its basic subscription right in accordance with the procedures described in this prospectus supplement.

We will allocate the available whole shares proportionately by calculating the number of rights you properly exercised using your basic subscription rights relative to the number of rights properly exercised by all subscribers who have over-subscribed. We will seek to honor your over-subscription in full, subject to the limitations set forth herein. The exercise of your over-subscription privilege may be limited, however, if there are insufficient shares available, so you may receive fewer shares than you subscribed for pursuant to your over-subscription privilege. If this allocation results in you being allocated a greater number of shares than you subscribed, and the remaining shares will be allocated among all other holders exercising the over-subscription privilege on the same basis. This allocation process will be repeated until all shares subscribed for have been allocated. Fractional shares resulting from the exercise of the over-subscription privilege will be eliminated by rounding down to the nearest whole share.

Rights payments for basic subscriptions and over-subscriptions will be deposited upon receipt by the U.S. subscription agent or us and held in a segregated account with the U.S. subscription agent pending a final determination of the number of ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to the over-subscription right. If the prorated amount of rights allocated to you in connection with your over-subscription right is less than your over-subscription request, then the excess funds held by the U.S. subscription agent or us on your behalf will be returned to you promptly without interest or deduction.

Brokers, dealers, banks and other nominee holders of rights, including DTC members, will be required to certify to the U.S. subscription agent before any over-subscription right may be exercised with respect to any particular beneficial owner as to (i) the number of rights exercised pursuant to its basic subscription right and (ii) the number of rights subscribed for pursuant to the over-subscription right of such beneficial owner. TASE members will exercise subscription rights with respect to their respective beneficial owners on an aggregate basis, setting forth (i) the total number of rights exercised pursuant to the basic subscription rights of such beneficial owners and (ii) the total number of rights subscribed for pursuant to the over-subscription rights of such beneficial owners. TASE members and TASE Clearing House members are required to ensure that any client that elected to exercise its over-subscription right has exercised its basic subscription right in full.

We will not offer or sell in connection with the rights offering any ordinary shares that are not subscribed for pursuant to the basic subscription right or the over-subscription right.

Fractional Securities

We will issue only whole numbers of securities in the rights offering. Accordingly, if you are entitled to receive a fraction of a subscriptions right in the rights offering, we will round down to the nearest whole number. With respect to ordinary shares registered on our shareholder register maintained by the American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, including those held in the name of DTC (other than those held for the account of the TASE Clearinghouse), rounding will be made with respect to each record and beneficial shareholder. With respect to ordinary shares held for the account of the TASE Clearinghouse or in the name of the Nominee Company of Discount Bank Ltd., such rounding will be made with respect to each nominee rather than each beneficial shareholder.

Rights may only be exercised for whole numbers of ordinary shares; no fractional ordinary shares will be issued in the rights offering.

We understand that some TASE members may record fractional securities for the accounts of their clients pursuant to their internal policies.

Exercise of Rights by Our Controlling Shareholders and Chairman

Our controlling shareholders, the FIMI Opportunity Fund., or FIMI, have informed us that they intend to exercise their subscription rights in full and may choose to exercise the over-subscription rights set forth herein, all to such extent that the FIMI holdings do not equal or exceed 45% of our voting rights following the exercise of their subscription rights. As of the date of this prospectus supplement, FIMI beneficially owns 33.8% of our outstanding ordinary shares.

Mr. Dov Baharav, our Chairman, interim Chief Executive Officer and the holder of 849,182 Ordinary Shares, representing 1.9% of our outstanding ordinary shares, has informed us that he intends to exercise his subscription rights in full and may choose to exercise the over-subscription rights set forth herein.

Expiration of the Rights Offering

You may exercise your subscription rights at any time before 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time) on March 21, 2016, the expiration date of the rights offering, unless we decide to terminate the rights offering prior to March 21, 2016. We may not extend the expiration date of the rights offering, other than as expressly set out herein.

If you are a beneficial owner of our ordinary shares and/or hold them through a broker, dealer, bank or other nominee (including a participant of DTC or a member of the TASE), rather than in your own name, and you wish to exercise your subscription rights, you should contact your nominee to exercise your subscription rights sufficiently in advance of the expiration date in order to ensure timely delivery of a subscription rights certificate reflecting your exercise. Your nominee will instruct you as to exercising your subscription and over-subscription rights and as to the proper time and form of payment of the subscription price. Each TASE member will determine its own deadline.

Any rights not exercised at or before the applicable time will have no value and expire without any payment to the holders of those unexercised rights. We will not be obligated to honor your exercise of subscription rights if the U.S. subscription agent or Gilat receives the documents relating to your exercise after the rights offering expires, regardless of when you transmitted the documents.

Revocation, Termination and Amendment of the Rights Offering

No Revocation. Once you send in your subscription rights certificate and payment, you cannot revoke the exercise of either your basic or over-subscription rights, even if the market price of our ordinary shares is below the share price of \$3.58 which is reflected by the subscription price. You should not exercise your subscription rights unless you are certain that you wish to purchase additional ordinary shares at the proposed subscription price.

Termination; Cancellation. We may terminate or cancel the rights offering at any time prior to March 21, 2016, for any reason. If the offering is terminated, all rights will expire and we will promptly arrange for the refund, without interest or deduction, of any funds received from holders of subscription rights. Any termination or cancellation of the rights offering will be followed as promptly as practicable by an announcement thereof and in no event later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the business day following the termination or cancellation. If the rights offering is terminated or cancelled, the adjustment made by the TASE to the opening price of our ordinary shares at the opening of trading on the TASE Ex-day (which is the first day that our ordinary shares will trade on the TASE without entitlement to receive the rights) will not be reversed.

No Amendments. We may not amend or modify the terms of the rights offering, nor can we extend the expiration date of the rights offering, unless we publish an amended prospectus supplement or a revised prospectus supplement (subject to any applicable law).

Reasons for the Rights Offering; Determination of the Offering Price

We are making the rights offering to strengthen our balance sheet, provide additional funds for our operations and for general corporate purposes. Although we believe that the rights offering will strengthen our financial condition, our Board of Directors is not making any recommendation as to whether you should exercise your subscription rights.

Our Board of Directors appointed a special committee to oversee the rights offering and make a recommendation to the Board of Directors with respect to the terms of the rights offering. The special committee is composed of three independent member of our Board of Directors, including our two external directors within the meaning of the Companies Law. The special committee recommended the subscription price to our Board of Directors, which in turn considered the terms of the rights offering.. In determining the pricing of the rights offering, the special committee and our Board of Directors considered, among other things, the need to offer the shares at a price that would be attractive to investors relative to the then current trading price for our ordinary shares, historical and current trading prices for our ordinary shares, the need for capital and alternatives available to us for raising capital, potential market conditions and the desire to provide an opportunity to our shareholders to participate in the rights offering on a pro rata basis. In conjunction with its review of these factors, the special committee and our Board of Directors reviewed, with the assistance of management and a financial and legal advisors, our history and prospects, including our past and present earnings, our prospects for future earnings, and the outlook for our industry, our current financial condition and a range of subscription prices compared to market prices in various prior rights offerings. The subscription price does not necessarily bear any relationship to any other established criteria for value. You should not consider the subscription price as an indication of value of our company or our ordinary shares. You should not assume or expect that, after the rights offering, our ordinary shares will trade at or above the subscription price in any given time period. The market price of our ordinary shares may decline during or after the rights offering, and you may not be able to sell the shares of our ordinary shares purchased during the rights offering at a price equal to or greater than the subscription price. You should obtain a current quote for our ordinary shares before exercising your subscription rights and make your own assessment of our business and financial condition, our prospects for the future, and the terms of this rights offering.

U.S. Subscription Agent

American Stock Transfer& Trust Company, LLC will act as the U.S. subscription agent in connection with the rights offering with respect to holders of our ordinary shares that are registered on our shareholder register maintained at American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, the transfer agent of our ordinary shares, including shares registered in the name of Cede & Co. for the benefit of brokers, dealers, banks and other nominees (other than the TASE Clearinghouse). The U.S. subscription agent will receive for its administrative, processing, invoicing and other services a fee estimated to be approximately \$40 thousand plus reimbursement for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses related to the rights offering.

Completed subscription rights certificates of such holders must be sent together with full payment of the subscription price for all shares subscribed for through the exercise of the subscription right (including oversubscription rights) to the U.S. subscription agent by one of the methods described below:

By Hand, Mail or Overnight Courier:

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219 Attn: Reorganization

Delivery to an address other than the address listed above will not constitute valid delivery and, accordingly, may be rejected by us.

If you use the mail, we recommend that you use insured, registered mail, return receipt requested. We will not be obligated to honor your exercise of subscription rights if the U.S. subscription agent receives the documents relating to your exercise after the rights offering expires, regardless of when you transmitted the documents. We will accept only properly completed and duly executed subscription rights certificates actually received at the address listed above, at or prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time), on March 21, 2016. See "– Payment of Subscription Price" below.

If you are a beneficial owner of our ordinary shares and/or hold them through a broker, dealer, bank or other nominee (including a participant of DTC), rather than in your own name and you wish to exercise your subscription rights, you should contact your nominee to exercise your subscription rights sufficiently in advance of the expiration date of the rights offering in order to ensure timely delivery of a subscription rights certificate reflecting your exercise. Your nominee will instruct you as to the proper time and form of payment of the subscription price.

Israeli Subscription Agent

The Nominee Company of Discount Bank Ltd. will act as the Israeli subscription agent in connection with the rights offering with respect to our ordinary shares that are held through an Israeli brokerage firm that holds the rights through the TASE Clearinghouse, as well as the ordinary shares held in the DTC account of the TASE Clearinghouse for the benefit of brokers, dealers, banks and other nominees that are TASE Clearinghouse members.

See also under "– Payment of Subscription Price – Record Holders whose ordinary shares are held through the TASE Clearinghouse".

Information Agent

If you have any questions or need further information about the rights offering, or for additional copies of this prospectus, please contact our Information Agent for the rights offering, D.F. King & Co., Inc., toll free at 877-283-0321.

Methods for Exercising Rights

Rights are evidenced by subscription rights certificates that will be mailed to record date shareholders registered on our shareholder register maintained at American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC or, if a record date shareholder's ordinary shares are held by a depository or nominee on his, her or its behalf, to such depository or nominee.

Record date shareholders registered on our shareholder register maintained by the U.S. subscription agent

Rights of record date shareholders registered on our shareholder register maintained at the U.S. subscription agent may be exercised by record holders or such depositories or nominees by completing and signing the subscription rights certificate that accompanies this prospectus supplement and mailing it in the envelope provided, or otherwise delivering the completed and duly executed subscription rights certificate to the U.S. subscription agent, together with payment in full (including for over-subscription rights) for the ordinary shares at the subscription price by the expiration date of the rights offering. Completed subscription rights certificates and related payments must be received by the U.S. subscription agent prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time), on or before March 21, 2016, at the offices of the U.S. subscription agent at the address set forth above.

Shareholders whose ordinary shares are held as of the record date by a nominee, such as a broker, dealer, bank or other nominee rather than in their own name, must contact that nominee to exercise their rights sufficiently in advance of the expiration date of the rights offering in order to ensure timely delivery of a subscription rights certificate reflecting their exercise. In that case, the nominee will complete the subscription rights certificate on behalf of the record date shareholder and arrange for proper payment by one of the methods set forth under "Payment of Subscription Price" below.

Beneficial owner whose ordinary shares are held through the TASE Clearinghouse

According to the TASE and the TASE Clearinghouse rules, a beneficial owner whose ordinary shares are held through the TASE Clearinghouse, rather than in their own name, should expect their TASE Clearinghouse member to notify them of this rights offering and the procedures for exercising or transferring their rights. If you are such a beneficial owner and you wish to exercise your subscription rights, according to the TASE and the TASE Clearinghouse rules, your TASE Clearinghouse member will instruct you as to the proper time and form of payment of the subscription price. In that case, the TASE Clearinghouse member will complete the subscription rights certificate on your behalf and arrange for proper payment.

According to the TASE and the TASE Clearinghouse rules, TASE members are required to send a written notice to their clients who are registered in their records as our shareholders on the record date notifying them and that they can choose among the following two alternatives: (i) to exercise their basic subscription rights and over-subscription right in full or in part; or (ii) not to exercise their rights at all. If the client has not given the TASE member an exercise notice as aforesaid, then his rights will not be exercised.

Nominee Holders

If you are a broker, a trustee or a depositary for securities that holds our ordinary shares for the account of others as a nominee holder, you should notify the respective beneficial owners of such shares as soon as possible of the issuance of the rights to find out such beneficial owners' intentions. You should obtain instructions from the beneficial owner with respect to the rights, as set forth in the instructions we have provided to you for your distribution to beneficial owners. If the beneficial owner so instructs, you should complete the appropriate subscription certificates. A nominee holder that holds shares for the account(s) of more than one beneficial owner may exercise the number of rights to which all such beneficial owners in the aggregate otherwise would have been entitled if they had been direct record holders of our ordinary shares on the record date, so long as the nominee submits the appropriate subscription certificates and certifications and proper payment to us. If you are a member of the TASE, you must comply with the rules of the TASE with respect to providing notices to and receiving instructions from your clients.

General

All questions as to the timeliness, validity, form, eligibility (including times of receipt and matters pertaining to beneficial ownership) and the acceptance of subscription forms and the subscription price will be determined by us, which determinations will be final and binding. No alternative, conditional or contingent subscriptions will be accepted.

We reserve the right to reject any exercise if such exercise is not in accordance with the terms of the rights offering or not in proper form or if the acceptance thereof or the issuance of our ordinary shares thereto could be deemed unlawful. We reserve the right to waive any deficiency or irregularity with respect to any subscription rights certificate. Subscriptions will not be deemed to have been received or accepted until all irregularities have been waived or cured within such time as we determine in our sole discretion. We will not be under any duty to give notification of any defect or irregularity in connection with the submission of subscription rights certificates or incur any liability for failure to give such notification.

Payment of Subscription Price

Record Holders registered on our shareholder register maintained by the U.S. subscription agent

If you are a holder of our ordinary shares that is registered on our shareholder register maintained at American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, you may send the subscription rights certificate together with payment for the rights exercised based on the subscription price of \$7.16 (reflecting a price of \$3.58 per share). To be accepted, the payment, together with a properly completed and executed subscription rights certificate, must be received by the U.S. subscription agent at the U.S. subscription agent's office set forth above (see "–U.S. Subscription Agent"), at or prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time), on March 21, 2016.

All payments to the U.S. subscription agent must be in U.S. dollars by check made payable to American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, LLC or bank wire to:

JP Morgan Chase

ABA # 021000021 Account # 530-354616

Beneficiary: American Stock Transfer

Reference: AST as Subscription Agent for Gilat Sat FBO shareholders name

JP Morgan Chase swift code is: CHASUS33

Payment also may be made by wire transfer to First International Bank of Israel Ltd., Branch 012, Account No. 333271, IBAN IL43031012 0000000 333271, SWIFT Code: FIRBILIT, for the benefit of Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd., with reference to the rights holder's name.

The U.S. subscription agent will deposit all funds received prior to the final payment date into a segregated account pending pro-ration and distribution of the ordinary shares.

The method of delivery of subscription rights certificates and payment of the subscription price to the U.S. subscription agent will be at the election and risk of the participating rights holders, but if sent by mail it is recommended that such certificates and payments be sent by registered mail, properly insured, with return receipt requested, and that a sufficient number of days be allowed to ensure delivery to the U.S. subscription agent and clearance of payment prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time (midnight, Israel time), on March 21, 2016. Because uncertified personal checks may take at least five business days to clear, you are strongly urged to pay, or arrange for payment, by means of certified or cashier's check or money order.

Whichever of the methods described above is used, issuance of the ordinary shares is subject to collection of checks and actual payment.

If a participating rights holder who subscribes for shares as part of the subscription right or the oversubscription right does not make payment of any amounts due by the expiration date, the U.S. subscription agent reserves the right to take any or all of the following actions: (i) reallocate the ordinary shares to other participating rights holders in accordance with the over-subscription right; (ii) apply any payment actually received by it from the participating rights holder toward the purchase of the greatest whole number of ordinary shares which could be acquired by such participating rights holder upon exercise of the basic subscription right and any over-subscription right; and/or (iii) exercise any and all other rights or remedies to which it may be entitled, including the right to set off against payments actually received by it with respect to such subscribed for ordinary shares.

Holders whose ordinary shares are held through the TASE Clearinghouse

The TASE Clearinghouse will credit the accounts of the respective TASE Clearinghouse members that hold our ordinary shares of record as of February 29, 2016 with one subscription right per each nine ordinary shares held in such accounts. According to the TASE and the TASE Clearinghouse rules, the TASE Clearinghouse members and members of TASE will notify their respective beneficial owners as soon as possible about the terms of the rights offering in order to ascertain their intentions and to obtain instructions with respect to the subscription rights, specifically if and how many basic subscription rights they elect to exercise, and in the event that they elect to exercise their basic subscription rights in full, if and how many rights they elect to subscribe for pursuant to the over-subscription right.

Beneficial owners who wish to exercise their subscription rights, in full or in part, must notify their respective TASE members no later than March 21, 2016, at the time determined by the applicable member, as to the number of basic subscription rights they elect to exercise, and, if they elect to exercise their basic subscription rights in full, the number of rights subscribed for pursuant to the over-subscription rights, if any.

TASE Clearinghouse members must deliver to the TASE Clearinghouse by 9:00 a.m. Israel time on March 21, 2016, a notice setting forth: (i) the total number of rights subscribed for through the exercise of the basic subscription rights of its respective clients and (ii) the total number of rights subscribed for pursuant to the oversubscription rights, if any, by such beneficial owners. TASE members and TASE Clearing House members are required to ensure that any client that elected to exercises its over-subscription right has exercised its basic subscription right in full. According to the TASE and the TASE Clearinghouse rules, TASE Clearinghouse members bear the sole responsibility and liability for the results of any mistake in such member's exercise notice.

On or about the expiration date of the rights offering, the TASE Clearinghouse will debit the respective accounts of the applicable TASE members for the aggregate subscription price due from them in consideration of the exercise of the rights and will credit the account of our Israeli nominee company (the Nominee Company of Discount Bank Ltd.) with the total amount due in respect of the exercise of rights by the TASE members.

Our Israeli nominee company will credit the TASE Clearinghouse with the number of shares issuable upon the exercise of the rights. This number will be allocated among the TASE members, so that each member is credited by the TASE Clearinghouse in accordance with the number of rights exercised by it.

The payment date of the total subscription price to us by our Israeli nominee company will be on or about the expiration date of the offering. One trading day after the expiration date of the rights offering, and only after we have received such payment, we will issue a share certificate to our Israeli nominee company with the number of shares issuable upon the exercise of the rights.

The payment of the subscription price will be denominated in NIS, at the "known" representative rate, which is the representative rate of exchange published by the Bank of Israel on the date prior to the payment date.

Set forth below is a summary of the offering timeline for holders of shares through our Israeli nominee company:

February 29, 2016	Record date
February 29, 2016	TASE Ex-Rights date
March 21, 2016, at the time determined by the applicable TASE member	The last day for clients of TASE members to notify the applicable TASE member as to basic subscription rights they elect to exercise, and to the extent that such basic subscription rights are exercised in full, the number of rights subscribed for pursuant to the over-subscription rights, if any.
March 21, 2016, by 9:00 a.m. Israel time	TASE Clearinghouse members deliver to the TASE Clearinghouse notices of rights exercised pursuant to the basic and over-subscription rights.
No later than April 3, 2016	TASE Clearinghouse debits the TASE members for the aggregate subscription price due from them in consideration for the exercise of the rights and credits the account of our Israeli nominee company with the total amount due in respect of the exercise of rights by the TASE members.
No later than April 3, 2016	Payment date of the total subscription exercise amount to us
No later than April 3, 2016	We issue a share certificate to our Israeli nominee company.
On or about April 3, 2016	Our Israeli nominee company credits the TASE Clearinghouse with the total number of shares issued upon the exercise of the rights. The TASE Clearinghouse will then allocate such shares among the applicable TASE members.

Delivery of Share Certificates

Shareholders whose ordinary shares are held of record by Cede & Co. on their behalf or on behalf of their broker, dealer, bank or other nominee that is a DTC participant (other than the TASE Clearinghouse) will have any ordinary shares that they acquire in the rights offering issued in the name of Cede & Co.

Shareholders whose ordinary shares are held of record by Cede & Co. for the DTC account of the TASE Clearinghouse on their behalf or on behalf of their broker, dealer, bank or other nominee that is a TASE Clearinghouse member will have any ordinary shares that they acquire in the rights offering issued in the name of Cede & Co. for the DTC account of the TASE Clearinghouse.

With respect to record shareholders, share certificates for ordinary shares will be mailed promptly after the expiration of the rights offering and payment of the subscription price by the individual holder has cleared.

If You Have Questions

If you have any questions or need further information about the rights offering, or for additional copies of this prospectus supplement or subscription rights certificates, please call the information agent, D.F. King & Co., Inc., toll free at 877-283-0321, or, if you are located in Israel, you may also contact our General Counsel at (972) 3-925-2000, during their respective normal business hours.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Immediately following the effective date of this prospectus supplement, we will distribute, at no cost, the subscription rights certificates and copies of this prospectus supplement to all holders of record of our ordinary shares on February 29, 2016. If you wish to exercise your subscription rights and purchase our ordinary shares, you should complete the subscription rights certificate and return it, with payment of the subscription price, or follow the procedure for subscription by shareholders whose ordinary shares are held by a nominee, as set forth in "The Rights Offering – Methods for Exercising Rights".

MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following are the material U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders of the receipt, exercise and disposition of rights, and of owning and disposing of ordinary shares issued upon the exercise of the rights ("new ordinary shares"), but it does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax considerations that may be relevant to a particular person's investment decision. This discussion applies only to U.S. Holders that hold our existing ordinary shares and will hold the rights and the new ordinary shares as capital assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, it does not describe all of the tax consequences that may be relevant in light of the U.S. Holder's particular circumstances, including alternative minimum tax consequences, the potential application of the "Medicare contribution tax" on net investment income and tax consequences applicable to U.S. Holders subject to special rules, such as:

- certain financial institutions;
- dealers or traders in securities that use a mark-to-market method of accounting;
- persons holding rights or new ordinary shares as part of a hedge, straddle, conversion transaction or integrated transaction;
- persons whose "functional currency" for U.S. federal income tax purposes is not the U.S. dollar;
- tax-exempt entities, "individual retirement accounts" or "Roth IRAs";
- entities classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
- persons who own or are deemed to own 10% or more of our voting shares; or
- persons holding existing ordinary shares, rights or new ordinary shares in connection with a trade or business conducted outside the United States.

If a partnership holds the existing ordinary shares, rights or new ordinary shares the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner will generally depend on the status of the partner and the tax treatment of the partnership. Partnerships holding existing ordinary shares, rights or new ordinary shares and partners in such partnerships should consult their tax advisors as to the particular U.S. federal income tax consequences to them of the receipt, exercise and disposition of the rights and of owning and disposing of new ordinary shares.

This summary is based upon the tax laws of the United States including the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), administrative pronouncements, judicial decisions, final, temporary and proposed Treasury regulations, and the income tax treaty between Israel and the United States (the "Treaty"), all as of the date hereof, and any of which could be subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect.

A "U.S. Holder" is a person that is eligible for the benefits of the Treaty and is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, a beneficial owner of existing ordinary shares that is one of the following:

- a citizen or individual resident of the United States;
- a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state therein or the District of Columbia; or
- an estate or trust the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source.

U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors as to the U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax consequences of the receipt of rights, the exercise or disposition of rights and of owning and disposing of new ordinary shares in their particular circumstances.

Except as described below, this discussion assumes that we are not, and will not become, a PFIC for any taxable year.

Taxation of the Rights

Receipt of the Rights

The receipt of the rights by a U.S. Holder of existing ordinary shares pursuant to the rights offering will be treated as a non-taxable distribution with respect to the existing ordinary shares for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If on the date of distribution, the fair market value of the rights is less than 15% of the fair market value of the existing ordinary shares with respect to which the rights were distributed, the rights will be allocated a zero basis for U.S. federal income tax purposes, unless the U.S. Holder affirmatively elects to allocate basis in proportion to the relative fair market values of its existing ordinary shares and the rights received (determined on the date of distribution). This irrevocable election must be made in the U.S. federal income tax return for the taxable year in which the rights are received, and will apply to all rights received by the U.S. Holder pursuant to the rights offering.

If on the date of distribution the fair market value of the rights is 15% or greater than the fair market value of the existing ordinary shares with respect to which the rights were distributed, the basis of the U.S. Holder's ordinary shares must be allocated between its existing ordinary shares and the rights in proportion to their fair market values (determined on the date of distribution).

Exercise of the Rights

The exercise of a right by a U.S. Holder will not be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The U.S. Holder's tax basis in new ordinary shares received upon exercise of the rights will equal the subscription price and the U.S. Holder's tax basis, if any, in the exercised rights. The holding period for the new ordinary shares received will begin on the day the underlying rights are exercised.

Sale or Other Taxable Disposition of the Rights

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, gain or loss realized on a sale or other taxable disposition of rights by the U.S. Holder will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the holding period for the rights is more than one year. For these purposes, the holding period for the rights will include the holding period of the existing ordinary shares with respect to which the rights were distributed. The amount of the gain or loss will

equal the difference between the tax basis in the rights disposed of and the amount realized on the disposition. Such gain or loss will generally be U.S. source gain or loss for foreign tax credit purposes.

Expiration of the Rights

If a U.S. Holder allows rights to expire without exercising them, the rights will be deemed to have a zero basis and, therefore, the U.S. Holder will not recognize any loss upon the expiration of the rights. Any tax basis from existing ordinary shares that was allocated to the lapsed rights will be reallocated back to such existing ordinary shares.

Taxation of the New Ordinary Shares

Taxation of Distributions

Distributions paid on the new ordinary shares, other than certain pro rata distributions of ordinary shares, will be treated as dividends to the extent paid out of current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles). Since we do not maintain calculations of our earnings and profits under U.S. federal income tax principles, U.S. Holders will generally be required to treat all distribution made with respect to new ordinary shares as taxable dividends and include them in income on the date of receipt. Subject to applicable limitations, dividends paid to certain non-corporate U.S. Holders will be taxable at favorable rates applicable to long-term capital gains. The dividend income will include any amounts withheld by us or our paying agent in respect of Israeli taxes. The dividend will be treated as foreign-source income and will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction generally allowed to U.S. corporations under the Code.

Dividends paid in NIS will be included in a U.S. Holder's income in a U.S. dollar amount calculated by reference to the exchange rate in effect on the date of receipt of the dividend, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars. If the dividend is converted into U.S. dollars on the date of receipt, a U.S. Holder generally should not be required to recognize foreign currency gain or loss in respect of the dividend income.

Subject to applicable limitations that vary depending upon a U.S. Holder's particular circumstances, Israeli taxes withheld from dividends at a rate not exceeding the applicable rate provided by the Treaty may be creditable against the U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability. Israeli taxes withheld in excess of the applicable rate allowed by the Treaty will not be eligible for credit against a U.S. Holder's federal income tax liability. The limitation on foreign tax credit is calculated separately with respect to specific classes of income. Instead of claiming a credit, a U.S. Holder may, at the U.S. Holder's election, deduct the otherwise creditable foreign taxes in computing the taxable income for the year, subject to generally applicable limitations under U.S. law. An election to deduct foreign taxes instead of claiming foreign tax credits applies to all foreign taxes paid or accrued in the taxable year. The rules governing foreign tax credits are complex and U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the availability of foreign tax credits and the deductibility of foreign taxes in their particular circumstances.

Sale and Other Disposition of the New Ordinary Shares

Gain or loss realized on the sale or other disposition of the new ordinary shares will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder held the new ordinary shares for more than one year. The amount of gain or loss will equal the difference between the U.S. Holder's tax basis in the new ordinary shares disposed of and the amount realized on the disposition, in each case as determined in U.S. dollars. Such gain or loss will generally be U.S.-source gain or loss for foreign tax credit purposes. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

We believe that we were not a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes for the taxable year of 2015. However, since PFIC status depends upon the composition of our income and assets and the market value of our assets from time to time, there can be no assurance that we will not be considered a PFIC for any future taxable year. If we were a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder owned an ordinary share (and under proposed Treasury regulations, a right), certain adverse consequences could apply to the U.S. Holder. Specifically, gain

recognized by a U.S. Holder on a sale or other disposition of such ordinary share (or right) would be allocated ratably over the U.S. Holder's holding period for the ordinary share (or right). The amounts allocated to the taxable year of the sale or other disposition and to any year before we became a PFIC would be taxed as ordinary income. The amount allocated to each other taxable year would be subject to tax at the highest rate in effect for individuals or corporations, as appropriate, for that taxable year, and an interest charge would be imposed on the resulting tax liability. Further, any distribution in excess of 125% of the average of the annual distributions received by the U.S. Holder on our ordinary shares during the preceding three years or the U.S. Holder's holding period, whichever is shorter, would be subject to taxation as described immediately above. Certain elections (such as a mark-to-market election) may be available to U.S. Holders and may result in alternative tax treatment. In addition, if we were a PFIC for a taxable year in which we pay a dividend or the prior taxable year, the favorable dividend rates discussed above with respect to dividends paid to certain non-corporate U.S. Holders would not apply. If we were a PFIC for any taxable year in which a U.S. Holder owned our shares, the U.S. Holder would generally be required to file annual returns with the Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, on IRS Form 8621.

Transfer Reporting Requirements

A U.S. Holder that subscribes for new ordinary shares may be required to file IRS Form 926 with the IRS if the aggregate subscription price paid by the U.S. Holder, when aggregated with all transfers of cash made by the U.S. Holder (or any related person) to us within the preceding twelve-month period, exceeds 100,000 U.S. dollars (or its foreign currency equivalent) and certain other conditions are met. U.S. Holders that are required to file Form 926, but fail to do so, could be subject to substantial penalties. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors to determine whether they are subject to any Form 926 filing requirements.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Payment of dividends and sales proceeds that are made within the United States or through certain U.S.-related financial intermediaries may be subject to information reporting and backup withholding unless (i) the U.S. Holder is a corporation or other exempt recipient or (ii) in the case of backup withholding, the U.S. Holder provides a correct taxpayer identification number and certifies that the U.S. Holder is not subject to backup withholding. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a U.S. Holder will be allowed as a credit against the U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle the U.S. Holder to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

Certain U.S. Holders who are individuals (and under proposed Treasury regulations, certain entities controlled by individuals) may be required to report on IRS Form 8983 information relating to their holdings of our securities, subject to certain exceptions (including an exception for securities held in accounts maintained by U.S. financial institutions). U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers regarding the application of these rules in the U.S. Holders' particular circumstances.

CERTAIN ISRAELI TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following are the material Israeli income tax consequences to the holders described below of the receipt and exercise and disposition of rights, and of owning and disposing of ordinary shares issued upon the exercise of the rights ("new ordinary shares"), but it does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax considerations that may be relevant to a particular person's investment decision. This discussion applies only to holders that hold our existing ordinary shares and will hold the rights and the new ordinary shares as capital assets for Israeli income tax purposes. In addition, it does not describe all of the tax consequences that may be relevant in light of the holder's particular circumstances. To the extent that the discussion is based on new tax legislation that has not been subject to judicial or administrative interpretation, we cannot assure you that the tax authorities will accept the views expressed in the discussion in question.

The Distribution and Exercise of the Subscription Rights

We do not believe that the receipt and exercise of your subscription rights will be taxable; however, no tax ruling from the Israeli Income Tax Authority will be sought for the rights offering.

Capital Gains Tax

Israeli law generally imposes a capital gains tax on the sale of any capital assets by residents of Israel, as defined for Israeli tax purposes, and on the sale of capital assets (or rights to capital assets) located in Israel, including shares of Israeli companies by non-residents of Israel and disposition of subscription rights, unless a specific exemption is available or unless a tax treaty between Israel and the shareholder's country of residence provides otherwise. The law distinguishes between real gain and inflationary surplus. The inflationary surplus is a portion of the total capital gain that is equivalent to the increase of the relevant asset's purchase price which is attributable to the increase in the Israeli consumer price index, or a foreign currency exchange rate, between the date of purchase and the date of sale. The real gain is the excess of the total capital gain over the inflationary surplus.

Israeli Residents

Generally, the tax rate applicable to capital gains derived from the sale or disposition of securities (including shares or subscription rights), whether listed on a stock market or not, is 25% for Israeli individuals, unless, among others, such shareholder claims a deduction for financing expenses in connection with such securities, in which case the gain will generally be taxed at a rate of 30%. Additionally, if such shareholder is considered a "Significant Shareholder" at any time during the 12-month period preceding such sale, i.e. such shareholder holds directly or indirectly, including with others, at least 10% of any means of control in the company, the tax rate shall be 30%. Israeli companies are subject to the corporate tax rate on capital gains derived from the sale of listed securities (currently 25%).

As of January 1, 2013, shareholders that are individuals who have taxable income that exceeds NIS 800,000 in a tax year (linked to the CPI each year), will be subject to an additional tax, referred to as High Income Tax, at the rate of 2% on their taxable income for such tax year which is in excess of NIS 800,000. For this purpose, taxable income will include taxable capital gains from the sale of our securities and taxable income from dividend distributions.

Section 94(D) of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance (New Version), 1961, or the Tax Ordinance, defines "bonus shares" as "including the benefit component in rights issued or in shares originating in such rights." Section 94(A) of the Tax Ordinance provides that at the time of disposition of bonus shares issued to an individual, company or association of individuals, or at the time of sale of shares in respect of which the bonus shares were issued, defined as the Principal Shares, the bonus shares will be deemed to have been purchased on the date the Principal Shares were purchased. In addition, the section provides that the original price (i.e., tax basis) of one bonus share or one Principal Share will be a sum whose proportion to the total original price of all bonus shares and Principal Shares will be the same as the proportion of the par value of one such share to the total par value of all the aforementioned shares. In accordance with Section 94(E) of the Tax Ordinance, the Minister of Finance of Israel may, subject to the approval of the finance committee of the Israeli Parliament, promulgate rules for calculating the amount of the benefit component. Such rules have not been published.

Non-Israeli Residents

Non-Israeli residents are generally exempt from Israeli capital gains tax on any gains derived from the sale of securities of Israeli companies publicly traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange or on a recognized stock exchange outside of Israel, provided however that such shareholders did not acquire their securities prior to an initial public offering and that the gains did not derive from a permanent establishment of such shareholders in Israel. However, non-Israeli corporations will not be entitled to such exemption if Israeli residents (i) have a controlling interest of more than 25% in such non-Israeli corporation, or (ii) are the beneficiaries or are entitled to 25% or more of the revenues or profits of such non-Israeli corporation, whether directly or indirectly.

In certain instances where our shareholders may be liable for Israeli tax on the sale of their securities, the payment of the consideration may be subject to the withholding of Israeli tax at the source.

In addition, pursuant to the Convention between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of Israel with respect to Taxes on Income, as amended, or the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty, the sale, exchange or disposition of ordinary shares by a person who qualifies as a resident of the United States within the meaning of the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty and who is entitled to claim the benefits afforded to such person by the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty generally will not be subject to Israeli capital gains tax unless such Treaty U.S. Resident holds, directly or indirectly, shares representing 10% or more of our voting power during any part of the 12-month period

preceding such sale, exchange or disposition, subject to particular conditions, or unless capital gains from such sale, exchange or disposition can be allocated to a permanent establishment in Israel. In such case, the Treaty U.S. Resident would be subject to Israeli tax, to the extent applicable; however, under the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty, such Treaty U.S. Resident may be permitted to claim a credit for such taxes against the U.S. federal income tax imposed with respect to such sale, exchange or disposition, subject to the limitations in U.S. laws applicable to foreign tax credits. The U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty does not relate to U.S. state or local taxes.

Taxation of Non-Residents on Dividend Distributions

Non-residents of Israel are subject to income tax on income accrued or derived from sources in Israel. Israeli source of income includes passive income such as dividends. On distributions of dividends other than bonus shares or stock rights distributions, income tax is generally withheld at source at the rate of 25% unless a different rate is provided in a treaty between Israel and the shareholder's country of residence.

Under the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty, such tax rate may be reduced to 12.5% if the shareholder is a U.S. corporation and holds at least 10% of our issued voting power during the part of the tax year that precedes the date of payment of the dividend and during the whole of its prior tax year, and provided not more than 25% of our gross income consists of interest or dividends, other than dividends or interest received from subsidiary corporations or corporations 50% or more of the outstanding shares of the voting stock of which is owned by us.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the securities offered hereby and other legal matters concerning the rights offering relating to Israeli law will be passed upon for us by Naschitz, Brandes, Amir & Co., Tel-Aviv, Israel. Certain legal matters relating to United States law will be passed upon for us by Carter Ledyard & Milburn LLP, New York, New York.

EXPERTS

Our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for each of the three years ended December 31, 2014 included in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference, have been audited by Kost Forer Gabbay and Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young Global, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon dated April 1, 2015 incorporated by reference herein, and are included in reliance upon such report given upon the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel. Service of process upon us and upon our directors and officers and the Israeli experts named in this prospectus supplement, all of whom reside outside the United States, may be difficult to obtain within the United States. Furthermore, because substantially all of our assets, all of our directors and officers and the Israeli experts named in this prospectus supplement are located outside the United States, any judgment obtained in the United States against us or any of our directors and officers may not be collectible within the United States.

We have been informed by our legal counsel in Israel, Naschitz, Brandes, Amir & Co., that it may be difficult to assert U.S. securities law claims in original actions instituted in Israel. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a claim based on an alleged violation of U.S. securities laws if they determine that Israel is not the most appropriate forum to bring such a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not U.S. law is applicable to the claim. There is little binding case law in Israel addressing these matters. If U.S. law is found to be applicable, the content of applicable U.S. law must be proved as a fact, which can be a time-consuming and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will be governed by Israeli law.

Subject to specified time limitations and legal procedures, under the rules of private international law currently prevailing in Israel, Israeli courts may enforce a final U.S. judgment in a civil matter, including judgments based upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. securities laws and including a monetary or compensatory judgment in a non-civil matter, provided that:

- the judgment is enforceable in the state in which it was given;
- the judgment was rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction under the rules of private international law prevailing in Israel;
- the laws of the state in which the judgment was given provides for the enforcement of judgments of Israeli courts;
- adequate service of process has been effected and the defendant has had a reasonable opportunity to present his arguments and evidence;
- the judgment and the enforcement of the judgment are not contrary to the law, public policy, security or sovereignty of the State of Israel;
- the judgment was not obtained by fraudulent means and does not conflict with any other valid judgment in the same matter between the same parties; and
- an action between the same parties in the same matter is not pending in any Israeli court at the time the lawsuit is instituted in the foreign court.

We have irrevocably appointed our U.S. subsidiary, Wavestream Corporation, as our agent to receive service of process in any action against us in any federal court or court of the State of Delaware arising out of offerings pursuant to this prospectus supplement.

If a foreign judgment is enforced by an Israeli court, it generally will be payable in Israeli currency, which can then be converted into non-Israeli currency and transferred out of Israel. The usual practice in an action before an Israeli court to recover an amount in a non-Israeli currency is for the Israeli court to issue a judgment for the equivalent amount in Israeli currency at the rate of exchange in force on the date of the judgment, but the judgment debtor may make payment in foreign currency. Pending collection, the amount of the judgment of an Israeli court stated in Israeli currency ordinarily will be linked to the Israeli consumer price index plus interest at the annual statutory rate set by Israeli regulations prevailing at the time. Judgment creditors must bear the risk of unfavorable exchange rate fluctuations.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION; INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

We file annual and special reports and other information with the SEC (Commission File Number 000-21218). These filings contain important information that does not appear in this prospectus supplement or in the accompanying prospectus. For further information about us, you may read and copy these filings at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549-0102. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330, and may obtain copies of our filings from the public reference room by calling (202) 551-8090. Our SEC filings are also available on the SEC Internet site at http://www.sec.gov, which contains periodic reports and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

Since we are also listed on the TASE, we submit copies of all our filings with the SEC to the ISA and TASE. Such copies can be retrieved electronically through the MAGNA distribution site of the ISA (www.magna.isa.gov.il) and through the TASE internet messaging system (www.maya.tase.co.il).

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" information into this prospectus supplement, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to other documents which are considered

part of this prospectus supplement. Information that we file with the SEC in the future and incorporate by reference will automatically update and supersede the previously filed information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below, all of which we have previously filed with the SEC and through the MAGNA distribution site of the ISA (www.magna.isa.gov.il):

- our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014; and
- our Reports on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC in 2015 on April 2, April 30, May 7, May 20, May 21, June 2, July 6, July 22, August 12, August 13, August 31, September 2, September 8, September 24, October 13, October 20, October 27, November 2, November 10, November 18, November 19, November 23, November 27, December 14, December 17, December 23, December 30, and on January 27, 2016, February 16, 2016 and February 17, 2016.

We also incorporate by reference in this prospectus supplement all subsequent annual reports filed with the SEC on Form 20-F under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and those of our reports submitted to the SEC on Form 6-K that we specifically identify in such form as being incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement after the date hereof and prior to the completion of an offering of securities under this prospectus supplement.

As you read the above documents and this prospectus supplement, you may find inconsistencies in information from one document to another. If you find inconsistencies you should rely on the statements made in the most recent document. All information appearing in this prospectus supplement is qualified in its entirety by the information and financial statements, including the notes thereto, contained in the documents we have incorporated by reference.

Upon written or oral request, we will provide to any person, at no cost to such person, including any beneficial owner to whom a copy of this prospectus supplement is delivered, a copy of any or all of the information that has been incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement but not delivered with this prospectus supplement. You may make such a request by writing or telephoning us at the following address or telephone number:

Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd.

Attn: General Counsel
21 Yegia Kapayim Street
Kiryat Arye
Petah Tikva, 4913020 Israel
Telephone: (972) 3-9252908
Fox: (972) 3-9252945

Fax: (972) 3-9252945 e-mail: RanTA@gilat.com

We have not authorized anyone to provide any information other than that contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement or in any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you. We take no responsibility for, and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may give you. We are not offering the securities in any jurisdiction in which an offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to anyone to whom it is unlawful to make an offer or solicitation.

You should not assume that the information in this prospectus supplement or any document incorporated by reference is accurate or complete at any date other than the date mentioned on the cover page of those documents.

Hiperlink to Prospectus dated May 9, 2014 http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/897322/000117891314001518/zk1414857.htm

Hiperlink to Amendment no. 1 of the Prospectus dated January 19, 2016 http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/897322/000117891316004002/zk1617866.htm

Subscription Rights to Purchase Up to 9,860,144 Ordinary Shares



PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

February 18, 2016

אישור עו"ד כי התקבלו כל ההיתרים

נשיץ ברנדט אמיר NASCHITZ BRANDES AMIR

נשיץ, ברנדס, אמיר ושות', עורכי דין רחוב תובל 5, תל-אביב 6789717 טל. 03-623-5000 פקס. 623-5000

משרד חיפה: שדרות פל-ים 16, חיפה 3309523 טל. 864-4433 - 40 פקס. 864-4433 - 40

WWW.NBLAW.COM

2016 פברואר 18

לכבוד רשות ניירות ערך רחוב כנפי נשרים 22 ירושלים <u>באמצעות המגנייא</u>

שלום רב,

הנדון: גילת רשתות לווין בע"מ ("החברה")

כעורכי הדין של החברה הרני לאשר בזה כי התקבלו כל ההיתרים הדרושים לצורך הצעת ניירות הערך על פי דוח הצעת המדף שאישור זה נלווה לו.

בכבוד רב,

שחר חננאל, עו״ד

נשיץ, ברנדס, אמיר ושותי עורכי דין

אישור הבורסה

972 3



2016 פברואר, 2016 265100

לכבוד גילת רשתות לווין בעייִמ יגיע כפיים 21 <u>פתח תקוח 49130</u>

גכבדיי,

הגדון: אישור לרישום ניירות ערך למסחר בבורסה על פי דוח הצעת מדף

- 1. בהמשך לאישורנו העקרוני מְיום 18.2.16 סימוכין 264882, ניתן בזה אישור לרישום למסחר של בין 9,860,144 לבין 9,860,144 מניות בנות 0.2 ש"ח ערך נקוב (בהנחת מימוש של עד של בין 9,860,144 לבין 9,860,144 מניות בנות 554,848 מניות), המוצעות בדרך של זכויות לבעלי המניות של החברה.
 - .18.2.16 יום מיום 60 תוקפו של אישור זה מותנה ברישום למסחר של המניות תוך 60 יום מיום 18.2.16.
- 3. אישור זה ניתן על סמך תשקיף המדף מיום 18.2.16, טיוטת דוח הצעת המדף מיום 17.2.16 ודפי תיקונים עד ליום 18.2.16 שהמצאתם לנו, כפוף לאישורים הדרושים על פי כל דין, כפוף לתשלום דמי הרישום למסחר בבורסה ומילוי כל יתר התנאים הקבועים בתקנון הבורסה.
- 4. אין לראות באישור זה של הבורסה אישור לפרטים המובאים בדוח הצעת המדף או למחימנותם או לשלמותם ואין בו משום הבעת דעה כלשהי על החברה או על טיבם של ניירות הערך המוצעים בדוח הצעת המדף או על המחיר בו הם מוצעים.
- 5. את המגיות שתונפקנה על פי דוח הצעה זה יש לרשום במרשם בעלי המניות של החברה על שם החברה לרישומים, למעט זכאים רשומים שלא רשמו את זכויותיהם במרשם בעלי חמניות של החברה לרישומים.
 - <u>.6 נבקשכם :</u>
 - א. להמציא לנו בתאריך דוח הצעת חמדף 3 עותקים ממנו.
- ב. להצביע על כל שינוי בין טיוטת דוח הצעת חמדף שהמצאתם לנו לבין דוח הצעת המדף
 - ג. לחמציא לאישורנו כל תיקון בדוח הצעת המדף שתבצעו.
 - עם הקצאת ניירות הערך, לבוא עמנו בדברים לשם רישומן למסחר בבורסה.

בכבוד רב,

הבורטה לניירות ערך בתל-אביב בעיים

۰۵. ح